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GENERAL ISSUES

Form and components of financial statements

CURRENTLY EFFECTIVE REQUIREMENTS

This publication reflects IFRS in issue at 1 August 2017, and the currently effective requirements

cover annual periods beginning on 1 January 2017,

The requirements related to this topic are derived from the following.

STANDARD

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements »
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statemen‘: B
IAS 27 Separate Financial Stateine nta—

IAS 28 Investments in ASVJu:_*_; and Joint Ventures

FORTHCOMING REQUIXEMENTS

For this topic, there are no forlivioming requirements.

FUTURE DEViLOPMENTS

This topic is subject to future developments that may affect several aspects of the presentation and
disclosure of information in financial statements. See 2.1.140.




2.1 Form and components of financial statements

x

2.1.10 COMPONENTS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

P

L.i0.10 The following comprise a complete set of financial statements:
a statement of financial position (see chapter 3.1);
a statement of profit or loss and OCI, presented either:
— in a single statement that includes all components of profit or loss and OCI in two separate
sections; or
— in the form of two separate statements, one displaying components of profit or loss immedi-

ately preceding another statement beginning with profit or loss and displaying components
of OCI (see chapter 4.1);

a statement of changes in equity (see chapter 2.2);

a statement of cash flows (see chapter 2.3);

notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information:

a statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period when an entity restates
comparative information following:

— achange in accounting policy;

— acorrection of an error; or

— areclassification of items in the financial statements (see 2.1.20); and

® comparative information in respect of the preceding period (see 2.1.50). [AS 1.10-104]

e o i

bR

2.1.10.20 The statements presented outside the notes to the financial statements are generally
referred to as “financial statements’ in IAS 1. In this chapter, those financial statements are described
when necessary as ‘primary financial statements’ to distinguish them from the financial statements
as a whole. Although IAS 1 provides the titles for the primary financial statements as outlined
in 2.1.10.10, which we use throughout this publication, those titles are not mandatory. [IAS 1.BC21]

2.1.10.25

All financial statements within a complete set of financial statements are presented vith
equal prominence. [JAS 1.11]

0.30 IFRS specifies disclosures to be made in the financial statements (see 2.1, 19.69). How-
ever, it does not prescribe specific formats to be followed. In our experience, entities consider the
presentation adopted by other entities in the same industry or country.

2.1.30.49 Although a number of disclosures are made in the primary financial statements, IFRS
generally allows flexibility in presenting additional line items and subtotals when they are necessary
to ensure a fair presentation (see 3.1.10 and 4.1.10). In addition to the information required to be
disclosed in the financial statements, many entities provide additional information outside the finan-
cial statements, either voluntarily or because of local regulations or securities ex change requirements
(see chapter 5.8). [IAS 1.13, 54-55A, 82-85B]

( Notes to the financial statements are presented, to the extent practicable, in a systematic
manner but not necessarily in a prescribed order and are cross-referenced from items in the primary
financial statements. [JAS 1.113]

2.1.10.60 In determining a systematic manner of presentation, an entity considers the effect on the
understandability and comparability of the financial statements. For example, notes to the financial
staternents may be presented or grouped in the following ways:
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giving prominence to the areas of the entity’s activities that it considers to be most relevant to

i - v .
an understanding of its financial performance and financial position, such as grouping together
information about particular operating activities; 3
e grouping together information about items measured similarly, such as assets measured at fair

value; or
e following the order of the line items in the primary financial statements (see 2.1. 10.70). [IAS 1.113-114]

2.1.10.70 If an entity follows the order of the line items in the primary financial statements, then
the notes are generally presented in the following order:

e a statement of compliance with IFRS;

the basis of preparation;

other significant accounting policies applied; _ _ .
supporting information for items presented in the primary statements, in the order in which each
statement and each line item is presented; and

o other disclosures, including contingencies, commitments and non-financial disclosures. [JAS /.1/2-11 7]

2.1.10.80 Disciosares that are not material need not be provided in a set of financial statements,
even if IFRS Contains a list of specific requirements or describes them as minimum requirements
(see 1.2.15). [ZAS 1.31, BC30H-BC301]

2,140 Third statement of financial position and related notes

21:20.10 A third statement of financial position is presented as at the beginning of the preced-

ing period following a retrospective change in accounting policy, the correction of an error or a
3 - . . .

reclassification that has a material effect on the information in that statement of financial position.

[ZAS 1.10(f), 40A]

2.1.30 Materiality considerations

2.1.30.10 When interpreting the requirement to present a third statement of financial position,
in our view an entity should consider materiality based on its particular facts and circu@stances.
An assessment of materiality requires consideration of the effect of retrospective application .Of the
relevant accounting policy, retrospective restatement or reclassification on the information in t_he
statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period. For example, an entity
may have previously presented its obligation for post-employment benefits entirely as nop-currcﬂt as
allowed by IAS 19 (see 4.4.1090). If the entity subsequently decides to split the amount into cu1.~rent
and non-current components in the statement of financial position, then it restates the comparatwe;s.
In this case, to the extent that the effect of the reclassification is material to the statement of financial
position as at the beginning of the preceding period, a third statement of financial position would be
required (see 2.8.130.20). [IAS 1.404, 19.133]

2.1.40 Presentation

2.1.40.10 The third statement of financial position relates to the beginning of the preceding
period. Therefore, as a minimum, a statement of financial position will be presented for the fol-
lowing dates:

® the end of the current reporting period;
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® the end of the preceding reporting period; and
® the beginning of the preceding reporting period. [JAS 1.408]

249 Al g

The third statement of financial position is not required in condensed interim financial

statements (see 5.9.30.22). [I4S 1.BC33]

40.30 When an entity presents additional comparative information (see 2.1.70), the date of the
thlrd statement of financial position is required to be the beginning of the preceding period regardless
of the earlier periods covered by the additional comparative information. [IAS 1.40D]

If an entity presents an additional comparative statement of financial position identical
to the third statement of financial position that would otherwise be required, then it does not need to
present the same statement of financial position twice. However, this fact is disclosed.

ExaMPLE 1 — THIRD STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION — ADDITIONAL COMPARATIVE INFORMATION

2.1.40.50 Company C usually includes an additional comparative statement of
financial position and statement of profit or loss and OCI in its annual financial
statements. During the reporting period ended 31 December 2017, C discovers a
material error in respect of the depreciation of property, plant and equipment. The
| correction of the error will have a material effect on the statement of financial posi-
- | tionat I January 2016. C’s financial statements for 2017 will therefore include:

® astatement of financial position at 31 December 2017; and

| e comparative statements of financial position at 31 December 2016 and 31 De-
G cember 2015.

1.40.60 Because the statement of financial position at 31 December 2315
would be identical to the statement of financial position at 1 January 2016, C
need not present the same statement of financial position twice. Thisfact could
be indicated in various ways; for example, C could provide a note oi specifically
label the additional comparative statement of financial position —i.c_51 December
- | 2015/1 January 2016.

i When an entity presents a third statement of financial position, it is not required to present
the related notes. However, it includes the explanatory disclosures required by paragraphs 41-44 of
IAS 1 and IAS 8. [IAS 1.40C, 4144, BC32C]

2.1.40.80 For a discussion of the requirement to present a third statement of financial position and
related notes for first-time adopters of TFRS, see 6.1.1540.

2.1.50 Comparative information
2.1.60 Minimum comparative information
2.1.60.10 Comparative information is required for the immediately preceding period. Unless

there is a specific exemption provided in an IFRS, an entity presents comparative information in
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respect of the preceding period for all amounts reported in the current period’s financial statements.

The preceding period’s related narrative and descriptive information is generally required only if it is
relevant to understanding the current period’s financial statements. For example, comparative segment
information would be disclosed. [14S 7.38]

2.1.60.20 No particular format is required for the presentation of comparatives. In our experience,
most entities reporting under IFRS provide comparative information about the immediately preceding
period alongside that for the current period.

60.30 When an entity is adopting IFRS for the first time, the required comparatives are prepared
in accordance with IFRS (see 6.1.20.30-40). [IFRS 1.7, 21]

2.1.70 Additional comparative information

2.1.70.10 More extensive comparatives may be presented voluntarily or to meet regulatory —
e.g. securities exchange — requirements. Such additional comparative information and related notes
need to comply withi IFRS. However, it need not comprise a complete set of financial statements.
[IAS 1.38C-38D}

2.1.70.20 When an entity is adopting TFRS for the first time, any additional comparatives included

in the Snancial statements need not comply with [FRS provided that those comparatives are labelled
clearty and explanatory disclosures are included (see 6.1 1540.10). [IFRS 1.22]

1.80 REPORTING PERIOD

]

2.1.80.05 A number of terms are used, either in the literature or in practice, to describe the end
cf an entity’s financial year, including ‘reporting date’, ‘end of the reporting period’, ‘statement of
financial position date’, ‘year end’ and ‘financial year end’. Generally, these tcrms‘arc uecd mtcr—,
changeably and have the same meaning. This publication consistently uses the term ‘reporting dcte
throughout, which refers to the end of the reporting period and does not refer to the date on which
the financial statements are prepared, authorised for issue, made public or filed.

2.1.80.1 The annual reporting date may change in certain circumstances —e.g. following a change
of major shareholder or because of regulatory or taxation requirements. If the annual reporting date
does change, then the financial statements for that period will cover either more or less than 12 months.
In this case, the entity discloses the reasons for using a longer or shorter period and the fact t?lat
information in the financial statements is not fully comparable. In addition, pro forma information
for the comparable preceding reporting period might be presented (see 2.1.130). [/AS 1.36]

2.1.80.20 IFRS is silent on the approach to take when a subsidiary changes its annual reporti_ng
date to align it with that of the parent. In our view, the consolidated financial statements should in-
clude the results of the subsidiary from its last reporting date to its new reporting date. Thercforc, the
subsidiary’s results included in the consolidated financial statements might cover a period of either
more or less than 12 months (see 2.5.440).
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ExamprEe 2 — EXEMPTION FROM PREPARING CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1.100.80  Company B is an intermediate parent of Company C, and B is owned
by Company P, the ultimate parent. C has subsidiaries,

Company B

100%

Company C

100% 100%

Subsidiary D Subsidiary B

1 C is not required to prepare consolidated financial statements if the
following conditions are met:

150 OF

® either P or B prepares consolidated financial statements in accordance with
IFRS and those consolidated financial statements are available to the users of
the financial statements of C:

® (s debt orequity instruments are not traded in a public market, including stock
exchanges and over-the-counter markets: and

® Chas not filed, and is not in the process of filing, its financial statements witii

a regulatory organisation for the purpose of issuing any class of instrumen.s in
a public market. [IFRS 10.4(a)]

21.100.100  In our view, if an entity disposes of its last subsidiary during the Cuirenit reporting pe-
riod, then consolidated financial statements are not required to be prepared because the entity is no
longer a parent at the reporting date. In such cases, we believe that the financial statements, including
comparatives, should be presented as unconsolidated financial staternents —i.e. individual or separate
financial statements as appropriate (see 2.1.110 and 120, respectively) — unless the consolidated finan-
cial statements are required by a regulator. However, the entity may wish to present supplementary
information on a consolidated basis (see chapter 5.8).

21110 Individual financial statements

2111010 Although the term is not formally defined in IFRS, individual financial statements are

those of an entity that has no subsidiaries and either:

® has investments in associates and/or joint ventures that are equity accounted
not use any exemption from equity accounting (see 2.1.1 10.20); or

® has neither an investment in an associate nor a joint venturer’s
1AS 27.7, 28.3, 16]

—i.e. the entity does

interest in a joint venture. [/FRS 77.24,
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111020  An interest in an associate or joint venture is accounted for using the equity method
s i iteria is met.

nless one of the following cri . - .
: The interest (or a portion thereof) is classified as held-for-sale in accordance with IFRS 5

(see 3.5.160).

i i iteri isfied:
e All of the following criteria are satis . o .

_  the entity is a wholly owned subsidiary, or is a partially owned subsidiary and its other owqers
(including those not otherwise entitled to vote) have been informed about, and do not object
to, the entity not applying the equity method,; . . .

_  theentity’s debt or equity instruments are not traded in a public market (see 5.2.10.12), includ-
ing stock exchanges and over-the-counter markets; _ _

— the entity did not file, and is not in the process of filing, its financial statements w%th aregu-
Jatory organisation for the purpose of issuing any class of instruments in a public market;
and . .

— the ultimate or any intermediate parent of the entity produces financial stlatements thgt are
available for public use and comply with IFRS, such that subsidiaries are either consolidated
or measure< at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 10. _ _

e The entity is o venture capital or similar organisation and elects to measure the interest at fair

value thrcugh profit or loss in accordance with TAS 39 (see 3.5.100). [IAS 28.17-20]

2,1.1150 © An entity that has a subsidiary cannot prepare individual financial statements.

‘1040 In our view, an entity may label its individual financial statements as such, or use fal-
Le;ﬁétive titles that may be more understandable to readers — e.g. ‘financial statements (_)f the entity
and investees’. Whatever label is used to identify individual financial statements, We believe that tlhe
notes to the financial statements should explain clearly the basis used in preparing those financial
statements.

1.110.50  An entity that prepares individual financial statements may elect to prepare separate
financial statements in addition to the individual financial statements.

»  In our view, if an entity meets and uses the exemption from preparing individual fi-
nancial statements, then IFRS does not require it to prepare financial statements. Houfevcr, such an
entity may elect to prepare separate financial statements as its only set of IFRS financial statements
(see 2.1.120).

1.120 Separate financial statements

2.1.120.10 A parent or an investor in an associate or joint venture that is not required to prepare
consolidated financial statements (see 2.1.100.30) or individual financial statements _(see 2.1.110)
may prepare separate financial statements (see 3.5.660). Altemat_ively, separate ﬁnanc1g1 statements
may be prepared in addition to consolidated or individual financial statements. [IAS 27.6, 8—84]

2.1.120.15 In separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries, associa_tes and joint ventures,
unless they are classified as held-for-sale (see 3.5.660.20), are accounted for either:

® atcost; ’

® in accordance with TAS 39 (see 7.4.10.10); or
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® using the equity method as described in TAS 28 (see 3.5.660.10-30). [IAS 27.10, 28,44, 39.2(a),
IFRS 11.26]

2.1.120.20

The entity applies the same accounting for each category of investments. For a further
discussion, see 3.5.660.40. [/AS 27.10]

i 1

] TAS 27 states that the financial statements of an entity that does not have an investment
in a subsidiary, associate or joint venture are not separate financial statements. However, in all material

respects, the requirements that will apply to those financial statements will be identical to individual
financial statements. [145 27.7]

120 Entities may elect, or be required by local regulations, to prepare separate financial
statements. However, an investment entity that in accordance with IFRS 10 does not consolidate its
subsidiaries (see 2.1.100.35) is required to prepare scparate financial statements. [JAS 27.84]
2.1.120.40  JFRS does not preclude an entity from including both consolidated and separate financial
statements within the same report. If an entity chooses to do so, then there is no required format or
order in which the financial statements are presented. However, the information presented needs to
be identified clearly as related to either the separate or the consolidated financial statements.
2112050 If an entity prepares separate financial statements in accordance with IFRS, then all
relevant IFRSs apply equally to those separate financial statements (see 1.1.170).

2.1.120.60  All separate financial statements disclose:

® the fact that the financial statements are separate financial statements:

@ alist of significant investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, including the name,
principal place of business and, if it is different, country of incorporation, proportion of ownefsh P
interest and, if it is different, the proportion of voting rights: and

® adescription of the method used to account for these investments. [JAS 27.16—17]

2675 In addition, separate financial staternents of a parent that meets the crii=ria and uses the

criteria for exemption from preparing consolidated financial statements disclosa:

® the fact that the exemption from consolidation has been used;

® the name and principal place of business and, if it is different, the country of incorporation of
the entity whose consolidated financial statements that comply with TFRS have been produced
for public use; and

@ the address at which those consolidated financial staterments are obtainable. [JAS 27.16]

» The separate financial statements of an entity that is not exempt from preparing con-
solidated or individual financial statements disclose the reason for preparing them if it is not required
by law and identify the related consolidated or individual financial statements. [74S 27.17]

24,

PRESENTATION OF PRO FORMA INFORMATION

IFRS is generally silent on the presentation of pro forma information within the finan-
cial statements, with the exception of the requirement in IFRS 3 to present, following a business

2013010
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combination, revenue and profit or loss of the combined entity determined as if the acquisition had
been effected at the beginning of the period. [IFRS 3.B64{q)(ii)]

2.1.130.20 In some cases, an entity may wish to present pro forn.la 'mformatic){l that is not r_equ;red
by iFRS — e.g. pro forma comparative financial statements followmg a ch'ange.m .the repo;tm g a_te
(sec 2.1.80.10) or a pro forma statement of profit or loss elmd 0CI ‘toil_owmg significant cba;ngtest 1-1:;
the composition of the entity. In our view, such additional information is generallﬁ accep:lad c:h Ecl)t !
extent that it is allowed by local regulaticns and relevant stock exchangc rules and provide " -
the information is labelled clearly to distinguish it from the ﬁngnmal statements prepared in ac
cordance with [FRS and is marked clearly as unaudited if .that is the case; o .
the entity discloses the transaction or event that is reflected in the pro forma financial information,

. . - . . . .
the source of the financial information on which it is based, the significant assumptlons used in
developing the pro forma adjustments and any significant uncertainties about those adj us.tments., and

e the presentation indicates that the pro forma financial information shou]q be .read in comjunc-
tion with the financial statements and that the pro forma financial information is not. necessarily
indicative of the results that would have been attained if, for example, the transaction or event
had taken place on a different date.

2.1.140 FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

2.1.%50 Disclosure initiative

2 3.10 The TASB is working on a broad initiative aimed at improving disclosures in the financial

statf:rr;ents. The disclosure initiative covers various areas and inc}udes the follov.ving pr(-)Jectls. o
e Definition of material — Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 This stand_arc_:Lsettmg project is da;u;’le.
at refining the definition of materiality and clarifying its characteristics. An exposure draft is
cted in September 2017. o
® ;f?if;t;?e;’:f dfsclomre (including standard-level review of disclosu.res ): This reslearch Pm]ect is
aimed at developing a set of principles for disclosure in IFRS to asls1st the IASB in setting better
disclosure requirements and help preparers communicate information more effectively to the us-
ers of financial statements. A discussion paper was published in March 2017. The proposals are
open for comments until October 2017. o _ N .
® Materiality Practice Statement: This non-authoritative guidance on how to use judgement when
applying the concept of materiality is expected in September 2017.

2.1.160 Primary financial statements

211600  The IASB is working on a research project on primary financial staltements. Thi:s project
considers potential targeted improvements to the structure and content of the primary financial S:ta.te-
ments focusing primarily on the statements of financial performance and cash flows. A consultation
document is expected in the first half of 2018.
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2.2 Changes in equity

CURRENTLY EFFECTIVE REQUIREMENTS

This publication reflects IFRS in issue at 1 August 2017, and the currently effective requirements
cover annual periods beginning on 1 January 2017.

The requirements related to this topic are derived from the following.

Presentation of Financial Statements

FORTHCOMING REQUIREMENTS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

For this topic, thzre are no forthcoming requirements or future developments,
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2.2,10 STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

i A statement of changes in equity includes:
® total comprehensive income for the period, separately showing the total amounts attributable to
owners of the parent and to NCI:
® foreach component of equity, the effects of retrospective application or retrospective restatement
recognised in accordance with TAS 8; and
® for each component of equity, a reconciliation between the carrying amount at the beginning and
at the end of the period, separately disclosing changes resulting from:
— profit or loss;
— OCIL; and
— transactions with owners in their capacity as owners, showing separately contributions by and
distributions to owners and changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result
in a loss of control. [I4S 1.106]

1.2.10.2¢ An analysis of OCI by item — for each component of equity — is presented either in the
statement of changes in equity or in the notes. [IAS 1.1064]

% { All owner-related changes in equity are presented in the statement of changes in equity,
separately from non-owner changes in equity. As such, dividends and the related per-share amounts
are disclosed either in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes to the financial statements.
Such disclosures are not included in the statement of profit or loss and OCI. [145 1.107]

Entities with no equity

) Entities that have share capital that is not equity (e.g. some co-operative entities) ana
entities that do not have equity as defined in TAS 32 (e.g. some mutual funds) may need to adancite
financial statement presentation of members’ or unit holders’ interests. Because a statement of ¢hs nges
in equity is not relevant for such entities, a statement of changes in net assets attributable (:;1nembers
or unit holders may be presented. Although IFRS does not require presentation of this statement, it
may provide useful information with respect to the components underlying the movemants in the net
assets of the entity attributable to the members or unit holders during the year. /749 6]

230 Changes in accounting policies and errors

0 A change in accounting policy or the correction of a material prior-period error is
generally presented by adjusting the opening balance of each affected component of equity of the
earliest period presented and the other comparative amounts disclosed for each prior period presented
(see chapter 2.8). The adjustments for each prior period and the beginning of the period are disclosed
in the statement of changes in equity. [JAS 1.106(b), 110, 8.22)

22,3020 The total adjustment to each component of equity resulting from changes in account-
ing policies is presented separately from the total adjustment resulting from the correction of errors,
[7AS 1.116]

3.3 460 A0

In addition, a third statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding
period is presented following a change in accountin g policy, the correction of an error or a reclassifica-
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.on if those changes have a material effect on the information in the statement of financial position
n g

utothe beginning of that period (see 2.1.20 and 2.8.140). [IAS 1.10(f), 40A—0D]

a
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2.3 Statement of cash flows

CURRENTLY EFFECTIVE REQUIREMENTS

This publication reflects IFRS in issue at 1 August 2017, and the currently effective requirements
cover annual periods beginning on 1 January 2017.

The requirements telated to this topic are derived from the following,

Statement of Cash Flows

The currently effective requirements include newly effective requirements arising from Disclosure
Initiative — Amendui=nis to IAS 7, which are effective for annual periods beginning on or after I Janu-
ary 2017. On in‘tia application of the amendments, an entity is not required to provide comparative
information for nreceding periods. See 2.3.123.

FORTHCOMING REQUIREMENTS

For this topic, there are no forthcoming requirements.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

This topic is subject to future developments that may affect several aspects of the statement of cash
flows. See 2.3.130.
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2.3 Statement of cash flows

2:3.10 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2.3.10.10 Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and that are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value. [/AS 7.6]

2.2.10.20 Demand deposits are not defined in IFRS, but in our view they should have the same level
of liquidity as cash and therefore should be able to be withdrawn at any time without penalty. In addition,
in our view demand deposits need not be held with a financial institution — e.g. monies held by solicitors
for clients in separate and designated accounts could be considered demand deposits if they are not re-
stricted. Even if a deposit fails to be classified as cash it may still meet the definition of cash equivalents.

2.3.10.30 Because the investments comprising cash equivalents are required to be readily convert-
ible to known amounts of cash, only debt securities and deposits can generally qualify for inclusion,
subject to the other criteria being met. Equity investments may also qualify if they are, in substance,
cash equivalents — e.g. preference shares acquired within a short period of their maturity and with a
specified redemption date.

2.3.10.35 An overriding test is that cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-
term cash commitments rather than for investment or other purposes. For example, an entity gives a
three-month loan to a customer to help the customer in managing its short-term liquidity position. In
our view, the investment in this loan is not a cash equivalent because it was given for a purpose other
than for the entity to manage its own short-term cash commitments. [JAS 7.7]

2.3,10.4¢ ‘Short-term’ is not defined in IAS 7, but the standard encourages a cut-off of three months’
maturity from the date of acquisition. In our view, three months is a presumption that may be rebutted
only in rare cases when facts and circumstances indicate that the investment is held for the purpose
of meeting short-term cash commitments (see 2.3.10.35) and when the instrument otherwise mmisets
the definition of a cash equivalent (see 2.3.10.10). Cash flows related to an investment that is not a
cash equivalent —e.g. those with a longer maturity for which the presumption is not rebutted may
be investing activities. [IAS 7.7, fU 05-13]

23,1045 An investment that is redeemable at any time is a cash equivalent culy i the amount of
cash that would be received is known at the time of the initial investment, is subjuctto an insignificant
risk of changes in value, and the other IAS 7 criteria for cash equivalents are met (see 2.3.10.10).
The IFRS Interpretations Committee discussed this issue and noted that the fact that an investment
can be converted at the market price at any time does not mean that the ‘readily convertible to known
amounts of cash’ criterion has been met. [JAS 7.6-7, IU7 07-09]

5]
o

An investment that does not meet the definition of a cash equivalent on acquisition does
not become a cash equivalent as it nears maturity. [IAS 7.7, It/ 05-13]

2.3

J16.55 An entity discloses the policy that it adopts in determining the composition of cash and
cash equivalents. The effect of any change in the policy for determining components of cash and cash
equivalents is then reported in accordance with IAS 8. [IAS 7.46-47]

2.3.10.60 Bank overdrafts repayable on demand are included as cash and cash equivalents to the
extent that they form an integral part of the entity’s cash management. However, even though a bank
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overdraft might be netted against cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows, this is not
ermitted in the statement of financial position unless the offsetting criteria are met (sce 3.1.50 and

7.8.00). [IAS 7.8, 32.42]

2.3.10.70 A reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash ﬂcm.fs to the
équivaleﬂt amount presented in the statement of financial po_sition is disclosed an.d may be included
in the notes to the financial statements. For example, if an entity hab cash balanlces in adisposal grmlllp
that is classified as held-for-sale in the statement of financial position, then this wouId_L bfi a re{conm ;
ing item between cash and cash equivalents '?n the statement of cash flows and the equivalent amoun
prescnted in the statement of financial position. [JAS 7.45]

2.3.20 OPERATING, INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES

20.10 The statement of cash flows presents cash flows during the period classified by operat-

ing, i i ancing activities.

longg‘g;::c?fgaziﬁiies’ afe the principal revenue-producing activities of the entity and other activi-
ties that are ng’ 1nvesting or financing activities. .

e ‘Investing activities’ relate to the acquisition and disposal of long-term assets and other invest-
ments not nicluded in cash equivalents. 7

e ‘Finuiicing activities’ relate to shareholders’ equity and borrowings of the entity. [IAS 7.6, 1 0]

242041 The wording of the definitions means that operating activities is the default classifica-
tion when a cash flow does not meet the definition of either investirllg or financing cash ﬂo_ws. Th'ere:
is perceived inconsistency between the primary classification principle in U.XS 7 and certain specific
guidance in the standard. The primary principle is that cash flows are class1ﬁeFl based on the rllaturc
of the activity to which they relate. Such classification is done in a mannex that is m(_)st appropll'latt? to
the business of the entity. However, certain guidance in IAS 7 may not lead to a consistent application

of this principle. [{AS 7.10-11]

2.3.20:13 For example, IFRS 6 allows entities in the extractive indusiries to choose an accounting
policy, to be applied consistently, in respect of qualifying exploration and e?v?lgatlon (E&E) expendi-
ture. Such expenditure may be either capitalised as an asset or expensed as it is incurred (se§ 5.1 1.39).
The nature of the activity to which the cash flows relate is the same regardless of the acco'ul.lt_mg pohcy
chosen. However, IAS 7 requires the related cash flows to be classified as investing activities only if
the expenditure is capitalised, because only expenditure that results in the recognition of an asset can
be classified as investing activities. If such expenditure is expensed, then the related cash flows are
classified as operating activities in the statement of cash flows. As a result, cash ﬂpws related to the
identical activities of two entities with different accounting policies are classified differently because
of the accounting policy chosen by each entity. [ZFRS 6.24, IAS 7.11, 16, 8.10]

2.3.20.14 Although aggregate cash flows arising from obtaining or losing control of sub-sidia:ies
or other businesses are presented separately and classified as investing activities, only expendlltu_re that
results in the recognition of an asset can be classified as investing activities. In some c.ases., significant
judgement may be needed to classify certain cash flows that relate to business combinations. In par-
ticular, consideration may be needed of whether the cash flow relates to obtaining control and whether
the expenditure results in a recognised asset in the statement of financial position. [IAS 7.16, 39]
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2.3 Statement of cash flows

In our view, in the consolidated financial statements transaction costs associated with
a business combination, although they are ancillary to the assets acquired, should be classified as
operating activities because the transaction costs are not capitalised.

2.3

If deferred consideration arising from a business combination is settled in cash, then the
payment will reflect both the initial fair value and amounts recognised in profit or loss as a finance
expense. The cash flow classification of the cash paid may require judgement, taking into account the
nature of the activity to which the cash outflow relates (see 2.3.20.11). To the extent that the amount
paid reflects the finance expense, classification consistent with interest paid may be appropriate.
Depending on the accounting policy adopted, this may be classified as either financing or operating
activities (see 2.3.50.20).

2,3.20.17 To the extent that the amount paid reflects the settlement of the fair value of the consid-
eration recognised on initial recognition (see 2.6.270), classification of the cash flow as a financing
activity would be consistent with the settlement of other financial liabilities —e.g. a loan or a finance
lease obligation. However, classification as an investing activity may also be appropriate. TAS 7 is
not clear whether the settlement of a financial liability is always classified as a financing activity.
For example, the settlement of trade payables is often classified in line with the nature of the under-
lying expenditure, including as an investing activity if the payment is for an item of property, plant
and equipment. Accordingly, judgement will be needed to determine whether the cash settlement
arises from obtaining control or the settlement of financing provided by the seller. Factors that may
be relevant to this judgement include the length of the period between initial recognition of the li-
ability and settlement, whether the period reflects a normal credit period and whether the liability is
discounted to reflect its deferred settlement; the latter would suggest that there is a financing element
to the arrangement.

Similar judgements to those described in 2.3.20.16-17 apply in respect of the classifica-
tion of cash outflows for contingent consideration in a business combination (see 2.6.280).-Further
judgement is needed if the cash payment is greater than the amount recognised on initial racognition
as aresult of the resolution of uncertainties — e.g. the better-than-expected operating performance of
the acquired business. In this case, classification as an operating activity, or classification consistent
with interest paid (see 2.3.50.20), may be appropriate.

3.20.20 The separate components of a single transaction are each classified as operating, investing
or financing; IFRS does not allow a transaction to be classified based on its predominant characteristic.
For example, a loan repayment comprises interest (which may be classified as operating or financing

(see 2.3.50.20)) and principal repayment (which is classified as financing). [IAS 7.12]

2.3 However, the aggregate net cash flows from obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries
and other businesses are presented separately as a single line item as part of investing activities. For
example, when a subsidiary is acquired, a single line item equal to the consideration paid by cash and
cash equivalents, less any cash and cash equivalents held by the subsidiary at the time of acquisition,
is shown as an investing cash outflow, rather than as separate cash outflows and inflows for the vari-
ous net assets and liabilities acquired. [/4S 7.39-42]

2 35 A subsequent purchase of an additional interest or a sale by a parent of a subsidiary’s
equity instruments that does not result in a loss of control is classified as cash flows from financing
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activities because such changes in ownership interests are accounted for as transactions with equity
holders (see 2.3.20.10 and 2.5.570.20). [AS 7.424]

Non-cash investing or financing transactions — e.g. shares issued as consideration in a
= B ) By 5 3 % ‘ t
business combination, or acquisition of assets via a finance lease — are not 1r}cluded in the‘statem.er?
of cash flows, but are disclosed to provide relevant information about investing and financing activi-
et ]

ties. [JAS 7.43—44]

DIRECT VS INDIRECT METHOD

2.3.30.10 Cash flows from operating activities may be presented claithcr under the direct ;nethfod
(receipts from customers, payments to suppliers etc) or uncller the.111.{:1.1r8<:t method h(ﬁrloﬁ‘tl ord :ISCT ezf
the period reconciled to the total net cash flow from ope.ram.ng actw1t1es)'. Althollllg ; 5[;1; I
courages use of the direct method, in our experience the indirect method is usually used. :

| For an entity that elects to present operating cash flows under the indirect' method, there
;;ofteu confusien ebout the correct starting point: shoulr.:l it be profit or loss or can a dlfff;;cnt ﬁguri;
such as profit beture income tax, be used? The standard itself refers to profit or loss, bult e %xamlpl)qe
provided i the appendix to the standard starts with a different figure (profit before taxat;;onc)l. .teczul] y
the apnendix is illustrative only and therefore does not have the same status as the standard, it w
be ine e appropriate to follow the standard (see 1.1.100.50). [IAS 7.18, 20, IEA]

2.3.30.20

2/3.30.30 Alternatively, an entity using the indirect method may choose to present its loperat:mg
cash flows by showing revenues and expenses before working c‘:;lpital changes as the starting I;;}mt!
followed by changes during the period in inventories, and operating receivables and payables. How-
ever, in our experience this approach is less common. [JAS 7.20, IEA]

23.40 CLASSIFICATION ISSUES

2.3.50 Interest, dividends and taxes

2.3.50.10 IFRS requires cash flows from interest and dividends received and paid, and income

taxes paid, to be disclosed separately. In our view, this means that disclosure is required in the state-
ment of cash flows rather than in the notes. [IAS 7.371-36]

3.50.20 The standard does not, however, specify the classification of such cash ﬂov\{s, and an enpty
is-re(;juired to choose its own policy for classifying each of iptcrest and di?ridend-s paid_ as op?rzll:}ng
or financing activities and each of interest and dividends received as operatmg or mvestmrg activi }es.
An entity chooses a presentation method that will present these cash flows in the most ap_propnlate
manner for the business or industry (e.g. banking), if applicable, and the metpod selecFed is zllpphed
consistently, Taxes paid are classified as operating activities unlcs_s it is practicable to identify them
with, and therefore classify them as, financing or investing activities. [/AS 7.3/-36]
2.3.50.30 Even if it is practicable for an entity to classify certain taxes as investing or financing
activities, the standard is not clear on whether:
® to allocate all taxes paid among the three categories of cash flows; or
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2.3 Statement of cash flows

® to allocate only certain taxes paid because they relate to transactions classified as investing or
financing, leaving the balance in operating activities.

2.3.50. In our view, it is acceptable to allocate only certain material tax cash flows, while
leaving the balance in operating activities, as long as the approach taken is applied consistently and
disclosed appropriately. We believe that allocating, for example, 60 percent of the tax cash flows as
it represents the material tax cash flows known to be from investing or financing activities, with ap-
propriate disclosure, provides better information than not allocating any.

2.3.50.37 When borrowing costs are capitalised in accordance with IAS 23 (see 4.6.10), interest
expenditure forms part of the cost of a recognised asset. Although paragraph 33 of TAS 7 specifies
that interest paid may be classified as a cash flow from operati ng or financing activities, paragraph 16

of TAS 7 permits expenditure that results in a recognised asset to be classified as investing activities,
[IAS 7.16(a), 33]

Given these inconsistencies, in our view an entity should choose an accounting policy,
to be applied consistently, to classify cash flows related to capitalised interest as follows:

® as cash flows from investing activities if the other cash payments to acquire the qualifying asset
are reflected as investing activities; or

® consistently with interest cash flows that are not capitalised (see 2.3.50.20).

ExamPLE 1 — CAPITALISED INTEREST — PRESENTATION

2.3.50.40 Company C builds a plant and pays cash of 1,000, which includes 50
of capitalised interest. C should choose an accounting policy, to be applied con-
sistently, to present the interest paid of 50 as cash flows from operating, financing !
or investing activities (see 2.3.50.38). The remaining 950 is included in investir a
activities. This is consistent with the requirement to classify separately the diffeisi:
components of a single transaction (see 2.3.20.20).

P
2.3.50.50

The total amount of interest paid is disclosed in the statement of cash nows, regardless

of whether the related expense has been recognised in profit or loss or capitalise us vorrowing costs,
[I4S 7.32]

2.3.55 Assets held for rental and subsequently held for sale

Cash flows related to the acquisition of an asset recognised in accordance with IAS 16
are generally cash flows from investing activities (see 2.3.20.10). However, cash payments to manu-
facture or acquire assets held for rental that subsequently become held-for-sale (i.e. are transferred to
inventory) are cash flows from operating activities (see 3.2.380.40). Cash flows from rental payments
and subsequent sales of these assets are also classified as operating. [IAS 7. 14, 16.684]

2.3.60 Hedging

2.3.60.10 If a hedging instrument is accounted for as a hedge of an identifiable position (see
chapter 7.7), then the cash flows of the hedging instrument are classified in the same manner as the

cash flows of the position being hedged. For a discussion of the presentation of hedging instruments,
see 7.8.225. [IAS 7.16]
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2.3.70 Factoring arrangements
Receivables factored e P
Supplier Proceeds - —
(Reponting entity) Payment > —
Goods/ Payment e

services™

=T gy

* sfservices — Ludance in on Tocuses on facloring ements relates O Sery T ing ature (e.g. inventory)
G /st S il i is sect il 2 Arrang nts related Lo goods or ices that are operating in n (e.g
00ds s — Guid th tion fi : d
rather than, for example, the sale of property, plant and equipment.

2.3.70.10 In a traditional factoring arrangement, an entity that is a supplier of g(?ods or S§Wi‘ies (dthe
entity) obtains cash from a bank or other financial institutio_n \(1.e. the factor) against recewab_esb]ie
from the entitv’¢ customers. The arrangement might take different legal forms — e.g. the receivables
might be sold te-the factor or pledged as security for a loan from the factor and the fa(.:tlor mag or may
not have 1=course to the entity in the event that the customer does not settle. A traditional actonéllg
arratirerient is initiated by the entity and the factor, rather than the customer. In many cases, the
~ystonier might be unaware of the arrangement.

2.3.70.20 There is no specific guidance in IFRS on the classification of Fash flows from traditional‘
factoring arrangements — e.g. whether the entity should class#y the'cash mﬂow-s from the ﬂfactor as
operating or financing in the statement of cash flows. Presenting a smglle ﬁnana.ng cash md Zl\;f r;lzz
significantly affect the statement of cash flows —e.g. in an extreme case, if the entity factore allo L
receivables, then there may be no operating cash inflows presented for the sale (?f .goods or services. T e
primary consideration for the classification of cash flows is the nature. of the activity to which they Te 'ate
(see 2.3.20.11) and judgement may be needed to apply this to factoring arrangements. For a chsc:usmén
of cash flow classification of factoring of receivables without recourse, see 2.%.72, and with recourse,
see 2.3.73. For a discussion of derecognition of financial assets and securitisations, see 7.5.60-320.

23.72 Factoring of trade receivables without recourse

If the receivables are factored without recourse, then in our view the procceds.from the
factor should be classified as part of operating activities even if the entity does pot enter mto_ s.uch
transactions regularly. This is because the proceeds do not generally fit c_:learly mto- the deﬁnlltlons
of either investing or financing activities (see 2.3.20). In addition, factoring of receivables without
recourse can be likened to the early collection of amounts due from customers and as such the related
cash inflow is considered operating in nature.

279 10
2.3.72,10

2.3.72.20 Tn some cases, an entity may continue to collect cash from customers on behallf of the
factor even if the receivables are factored without recourse. In these circumstances, the entity may
collect the cash and transfer it onwards to the factor, and it may be appropriate to either exclude
these cash flows from the cash flow statement or to present the relevant cash inflow and outflows net

(similar to 2.3.73.30 below).
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2.3.73 Factoring of trade receivables with recourse

.10 If receivables are factored with recourse, then the Tactoring arrangement may take dif-

ferent legal forms and structures — e.g. the customer may be required to remit cash directly to the

factor (see 2.3.73.20) or to the entity, which then transfers the cash to the factor (see 2.3.73.30). For

a discussion of derecognition of receivables in factoring with recourse arrangements, see 7.5.310.

2.3.73.20 If the customer remits cash directly to the factor, then in our view the following approaches

to presenting cash flows are acceptable and should be applied consistently.

® Approach 1: Present a single financing cash inflow or a single operating cash inflow for the proceeds
received from the factor against receivables due from the entity’s customers. An entity applies
Jjudgement in determining whether to classify proceeds received from the factor as financing or
operating cash inflows, giving consideration to the nature of the activity to which the cash inflow
relates (see 2.3.70.20). Although the nature of the arrangement may be viewed as collateralised
borrowing (see 7.5.310) and as such be classified as a financing cash inflow based on the guidance
in paragraph 17(c) of TAS 7, we believe that it may also be acceptable to classify the proceeds
from the factor as part of operating activities on the basis that the principal nature of cash flows
related to the provision of goods and services will often be operating (see 2.3.20.10). Approach 1
considers the settlement of the lability to the factor by the customer as a non-cash transaction
for the entity —i.e. the entity presents only a single cash flow receipt from the factor — therefore
it needs to provide disclosure of non-cash transactions (see 2.3.74.20).

® Approach 2: Present gross cash flows. Under this approach, the entity would present a financing
cash inflow for the proceeds received from the factor, followed by an operating cash inflow when
the factor collects the amounts from the customer in respect of goods or services sold by the entity
and a financing cash outflow for settlement of amounts due to the factor. Approach 2 reflects that,
in substance, the factor is collecting receivables on behalf of the entity and retains the proceeds
in settlement of the entity’s lability to the factor.

3.30 If the customer remits cash directly to the entity, then this arrangement involves muiiiple
actual cash flows for the entity —i.e. proceeds from the factor on factoring of the receivable, teceipts
from the customer and payment to the factor. In this case, the entity presents a financing cash inflow
for the proceeds received from the factor, followed by an operating cash inflow for this proceeds re-
ceived from the customer and a financing cash outflow to settle the liability due o the factor. We do
not believe that the entity could report a single operating cash flow in this casc However, the entity
may be able to report the proceeds received from, and the settlement of the liability due to, the factor
on a net basis if the relevant criteria are met (see 2.3.110). [AS 7.22, 23A(c)]

Disclosures

2.3.7410 In addition to the appropriate classification in the statement of cash flows, an entity
that is a supplier of goods and services in a factoring arrangement is required to disclose information
about those arrangements that is relevant to an understanding of its cash flows. This disclosure may
include an explanation of the nature of the arrangement and how it is reflected in the financial state-
ments. Relevant IFRS disclosure requirements include:

@ disclosure of significant accounting policies; and

® disclosure of significant judgements that management has made in the process of applying the

accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements. [JAS 7.117-122]
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The additional disclosure requirements that may be relevant to these arrangements

).. £3 it
e i -ash payments arising from
reporting separately major classes of gross cash receipts and gross cash pay
investing and financing activities;

; . N x % d
disclosure of non-cash transactions; an . _ ) B
additional information that may be relevant to users in understanding the financial position and

liquidity of the entity. [JAS 7.21, 43, 50]

2.3.75 Reverse factoring arrangements

EEECTIED S . =)

Goods/
services™

?*A‘J’men(

Customer

0 erv. e — Lunda 15 sechia ! ar L3 (4] TV ved fr I are operating in nature
ods/ 3 idance in thi on focuses on arrangements related to goods or services recel ed from the supplicr that are op g

Gi Guid: this seci i T

{e.7 ine ory) rather than, fo example, the acquisition of property, plant and equipment.

2510 Under a reverse factoring arrangement (see 7.8.45 and 7.5.425), a facto.r agrees to pay
ﬁounts to a supplier in respect of invoices owed by the supplier’s customer and‘recelvesj s.et.tlamc];]t
from that customer (the entity) at a later date. A reverse factoring arrangement is often initiated by
the customer and the factor.

2.3.75.20 There is no specific gnidance in IFRS on the classification of cash ﬂ.ows for an entity that
is the customer in a reverse factoring arrangement — i.e. whether it should classify the cash outflows
to settle amounts owed to the factor as operating or financing in the statement of cash flows. Pre.sent-
ing a single financing cash outflow may significantly affect the statement of cash flows — e.g. in-an
extreme case, if all of the entity’s payables were reverse factored, then there may be no operating
cash outflows presented for its purchases.

2.3.75.30 The appropriate presentation in the statement of financial position and disclosure about
liabilities related to reverse factoring arrangements are discussed in 7.8.45.70-90, 205 an_d 37:5.
However, in our view it is the nature of the activity, rather than the classification of the related item in
the statement of financial position, that determines the appropriate classification of the cash outflow.
[IAS 7.10-11, IU 03-12, 07-12, 03-13]

2.3.75.40 Reverse factoring arrangements may take different legal forms and structgres. In ot

view, the following approaches to presenting cash flows are acceptable and should be applied consist-

ently. _ .

® Approach I: Present a single operating cash outflow or a single ﬁnagcmg cash (.)utﬂow fo.r .thc
payments made to the factor: Under this approach, an entity applies Ju@gement in determl‘n%ng
whether to classify payments made to the factor as an operating or financing cash outflow, giving

53




2.3 Statement of cash flows

consideration to the primary principle that cash flows are classified according to the nature of the
activity to which they relate (see 2.3.20.1 1), taking into account the specific facts and circumstances,
For example, an entity needs to consider if the principal business purpose of the reverse factoring
arrangement is to provide funding to the supplier or to facilitate efficient payment processing, and
whether the reverse factoring arrangement significantly extends payment terms beyond the normal
terms agreed with other suppliers (see 7.8.45 -80). In our experience, the principal nature of cash
payments related to the purchase of goods and services will often be operating. This approach
considers the payment to a supplier by the factor not to be a cash transaction of the customer—i.e,
the entity presents a single cash flow for cash payments made to the factor. If an entity follows
this approach, then it provides disclosure of non-cash transactions (see 2.3.75 .60).

® Approach 2: Present gross cash flows. Under this approach, the entity would present financing
cash inflows and operating cash outflows when the factor makes a payment to the supplier in
respect of the purchase of goods or services made by the entity, together with a financing cash
outflow for settlement of amounts due to the factor. This approach presents payments by the factor
to suppliers as payments made on behalf of the entity.

2.3.75.50 [n addition to the appropriate classification in the statement of cash flows, an entity that

is the customer in a reverse factoring arrangement (see 7.8.45) is required to disclose information

about those arrangements that is relevant to an understanding of its cash flows. This disclosure may

include an explanation of the nature of the arrangement and how it is reflected in the financial state-

ments. Relevant IFRS disclosure requirements include:

® disclosure of significant accounting policies; and

@ disclosure of significant Judgements that management has made in the process of applying the

accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements. [/AS 1.117-122]

2.3.75.60

include:

® reporting separately major classes of gross cash receipts and gross cash paymenis arising from
investing and financing activities:

® disclosure of non-cash transactions; and

® additional information that may be relevant to users in understanding the'financial position and
liquidity of the entity. [145 7.21, 43, 50]

The additional disclosure requirements that may be relevant to these arrangeraents

2.3.80

FOREIGN EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES

Cash flows arising from an entity’s foreign currency transactions are translated into the
entity’s functional currency (see 2.7.30) at the exchange rates at the dates of the cash flows; when
exchange rates have been relatively stable, an appropriate average can be used. When the presentation
currency is different from the functional currency, the functional currency cash flows are translated
into the presentation currency at the rates at the dates of the cash flows (or appropriate averages). For
example, the functional currency cash flows of a foreign operation will need to be translated into the
group presentation currency when preparing consolidated financial statements. The effect of exchange

rate changes on the balances of cash and cash equivalents is presented as part of the reconciliation
of movements therein. [AS 7.25-28]

2.3.80.10
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2.3.90 Cash held in foreign currency
. P
ExaMPLE 2 — EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES — CALCULATION AND PRESENTATION

Foreign exchange differences

2.3.90.10 This example illustrates the calculation of the effect 01? exchange rgte
éﬁaﬁges on the balances of an individual entity’s cash and cash equivalents and its
presentation in the statement of cash flows.

Note
1t Calculated as (150 - 80 + 130),

FoREIGN RaTE FuncTioNAL
CURRENCY CURRENCY
Balance of cash held in foreign currency uh o
on 1 January 2017 100 1 5:] e
Receipts from customers 100 _6.1 o
i 1.6:
Payments to suppliers (50)
Balance of cash held in foreign currency 5
on 31 December 2017 150
i 1 300
Y anslated cash at the reporting date 150 2 o
Gain on cash held in foreign currency
|
1
Statement of financial position
FuNCTIONAL FUNCTIONAL
CURRENCY CURRENCY
2017 2016
100
Share capital 100
(1 =
Retained earnings 200 -
Cash 300

Statement of cash flows extract — Direct method

2017
Receipts from customers!" 150
Payments to suppliers® (80)
Net increase in cash 70
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 2017 100
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on
cash held 130
Cash and cash equivalents at
31 December 2017 300
Notes

1. All receivables collected by thfa reporting date.
2. All invoices paid by the reporting date.
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2.9 Events after the reporting period

then the financial statements of the

2.9.10 OVERALL APPROACH

ements of the group that includes this subsidiary,

ial stat -y
{ fmmlcl-al s pave a later date of authorisation.
2.8.10.16 The following diagram illustrates the scope of IAS 10, which deals with even(g subsidiary ial statements of the current period
N . : \ . " . . v « e
oceur after the reporting date but before the financial statements are authorised for issue, 245 1 3 [n our view, the authorisation for issue of the ﬁndnmz 8 Z - S———
' 5.40 . : ion of adjusting and non-adjusting : ;
i BT if require the reconsideration o interim) of a previous period
End of the mot t=c! tqon that is derived from financial statements (annual or interim) of ap
Start of the reperting period Financial statements  Information Shareholdey e informat iously anthorised for issue. [IAS 1.38, 10.3, 8-11]
reporting period  (reperting date) authorised made public meeting (hat were themselves previously
j < — — ADJUSTING EVENTS :
Events after the Events after the 1 29.20 ; - adiusted to reflect events that occur after the reporting
reporting date reporting date not ! 20.10 [fhe finecial statements & BONS ised for issue, if either they provide evidence of
covered by IAS 10 covered by TAS 10 ) 2.2.20- core the financial statements are authorised for issue, — R
{ date, but before the ; ‘usting events) or they indicate that the going
;ﬁ - ns that existed at the reporting date (adjusting 1
_ ) -andition * ) . 10.3, 8, 14
A number of terms are used, either in the literature or in i inappropriate (see 2.9.55). /AS

i practice, to describe the end
of an entity’s financial year, including ‘reporting date’, ‘end of the reporting period’, ‘statemen of

financial position date’, ‘year end’ and “financial year end’. Generally, these terms are used infer.
changeably and have the same meaning. This publication consistently uses the term ‘reporting dg!
throughout, which refers to the end of the reporting period and does not refer to the date on whigh
the financial statements are prepared, authorised for issue, made public or filed. 5

pasis of preparation is

_1i#GaL cLAIM — DEFENDANT

ExamPLE 1A

.20 Company T is being sued for breach of contract. At the reporting date,
20.20

;f asserted that it had not breached the contract and had legall op;mons fgﬁgﬁlﬁ
this as the most likely outcome. Therefore, T had not recogm:: ilgﬁf e
its draft financial statements (see c.haptmj 3.1112)(;&}:):?;;\,{:; al:;eﬁminary i
$.15.10 Disclosure is required in the financial statements of the date on which the financg| are authoris'ed by thl.e dlrectc‘»rs, the Jeusdﬂgfe 11% (t) OP? i i
statements were authorised for issue and who gave such authorisation, to inform users of the date fp that T is guilty and liable for damag o }Or e
to amend the financial Stﬁla;., financial statements have been authorise :

Date on which the financial statements were authorised for issue

Financial statements

5 5 ; . ] ) ) \ Reporting date authorised J
2.9.15.20 The date on which the financial statements are authorised for issue is generaliy the date l
on which the financial statements are authorised for issue by management, either (o thc supervisory | l
board or to the shareholders. Even if the sharcholders are required to approve the finar.cial statements, Final

- . . . . . \ 3.1 3 mal
the daFe on which the financial statements are authorised for 1ssue is the date of issue, not the date T sued fot T's assessment  Preliminary ruling judgment
on which shareholders approve the financial statements. [JAS 10.5-6] breach of contract not guilty T is guilty

R ]
St .22

Identification of the date on which the financial statements are authorised for issue is akey
area in the application of IAS 10. This is because any event that occurs after this date is not disclosed
orreflected in the financial statements of the current period. However, the date on which the financidl
statements are authorised for issue is not always easily identifiable. In our view, the determination of
this date should be based on all facts and circumstances, including the rights and responsibilities of
the governing body and local governance rules on authorisation protocols. [/4S 10.4-7]

2.9.20.25 In our view, the financial statements should ['.)e adjusted ﬁﬂd -ad}:::;if;
of 1:000 recognised because the pre]jminaryl ruling provides Fnougevei:;r; AL
an obligation existed at the reporting date, ml the absence © riny Ao
contrary, notwithstanding the fact that a final judgment had not ye

. 0.
8% 50 30 For other examples of adjusting events, see paragraph 9 of IAS 1

2.9.15.25

In our view, two different dates of authorisation for issue of the financial statements
(dual dating of financial statements) should not be disclosed, because we believe that only a single
date of authorisation for issue of the financial statements complies with IAS 10. [Jv 05-13]

2930 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS |

. = LA . Non-adjustin.
2.9.30.10 Financial statement amounts are not adjusted for non-adjusting e;rentsAN " Stion i \
events are events that are a result of conditions that arose after the reporting date |

36 The financial statements of each entity have their own date of authorisation, For example,
nancial statements of a subsidiary are authorised for issue after the publication of the consolidated

iffi




2.9 Events after the reporting period

when events after the reporting date indicate that the financial statements should not
a going concern basis (see 2.9.55). [JAS /0.3, /0, 14]

EXAMPLE 1B — LEGAL cLAIM — CLAIMANT

2.9.30.15

Continuing Example 1A from the point of view of Company V, Which
is suing Company T for breach of the contract, V is uncertain about the outcome of
the legal proceeding at the reporting date. V's financial statements are authorigeq
for issue after the final court j udgment. V considers whether the favourable coyg
ruling is an adjusting or non-adjusting event in respect of its claim, which hag been

treated as a contingent asset (see 3. 12.107) because its realisation was probable by
;? not virtually certain, 1

- 3

2.9.30.17

In our view, the change in probability of the realisation of income anq
the recovery of the related asset as a result of the court ruling is an event that should
be reflected in the financial statements of the period in which the change occurs and
should not be treated as an adjusting event in the prior-period financial statements, |
This is because the recognition of an asset for an item that is a contingent asset {5

specified as ‘recognised in the period in which the change occurs’. [JAS 37.33, 33] ‘
2.9.30.18 We believe that the phrase ‘in which the change occurs’ refers to the
change in probability of the related inflows of economic benefits, which provides.
enough evidence that from that point in time the item meets the definition of and the
recognition requirements for an asset. We believe that this specific guidance should
be applied rather than considering the change in probability to be an event that pro-

be Prepareg o

erexlt{} be

i . ised for issue, then
ancial Statcg]w nual reporting date but before the financial statements are authorised
3 aﬂer € a

T T T

vides additional information about circumstances at the reporting date, even thoug:.
this is not symmetrical with the accounting by the counterparty (T). [I4S 37.32 AT

2.9.30.20 Dividends declared (i.e. the dividends are authorised and no longer at the

of the entity) after the reporting date are non-adjusting events that are not recogi
in the financial statements, but are disclosed in the notes to
no obligation exists at the reporting date. For further discu
dividends, see 7.3.600. [4S 10.12-13]

discretion
'sedas a liability
the financial stateminiz, This is because
ssion of the timing of the recognition of

29.30.25 A change in income tax rate or income tax law enacted or substantively enacted after
the reporting date is a non-adjusting event that would

generally result in disclosure (see 3.13.480.50).
[IAS 10.22(h), 12.4647]

29.30.28 An entity considers changes in market conditions after the reporting date to determing

whether they indicate an adjusting or non-adjusting event. For example, if the assumptions made in
determining recoverable amounts at the reporting date are consistent with market data at that date,

then no further adjustment is necessary (see 3.10.180.70-110). However, the entity considers whether
disclosure would be appropriate (see 2.9.30.30). [1AS 10.11, 21]

2.9.30.30

For material non-adjusting events, an entity discloses the nature of the event and an estimate
of its

financial effect or a statement that an estimate cannot be made. A non-adjusting event is consid-

386

Identifying the key event

i ili users of the
.l if it is of such importance that non-disclosure would affcc'g Fhe ab1.hty ofC o
o ats to make proper evaluations and decisions. In all cases, if a business

B66, IAS 10.21]
i discloses information as prescribed by IFRS 3 (see 2.6.1 160). [/FRS 3.59-60, B6
an entity Al
j 10.
For other examples of non-adjusting events, se¢ paragraph 22 of IAS
2.9.30.40
N
CURRENT VS NON-CURRENT CLASSIFICATIO |
E - ts circum-
1 Generally, the classification of long-term debt as current or non currgntf ::rﬂt;ce ieporﬁng
g he reporting c,late Refinancings, amendments, waivers etc that are agreed a
gtances at the TC .

i -adjustin
dered in determining the classification of debt, b1_1t are‘dasclosed as nortlina ]date ti
30). However, if an entity expects, and has the discretion, at t%ll‘:) Tepor gcurrem
heéiule payrr;ents on a long-term basis, then the debt is classified as non-

date are not consi
events (see 2.9.30.
[ C
refinance or to res
(see 3. 1.40). [IAS 1.72-76]

29.50 EARNINGS PER SHARE N
1 EPS is restated to include the effect on the number of shares of certain share
2.9.50.10 E

acti are non-adjusting
vl wiappen after the reporting date even though the transactions themselves j
tions -aL L
vents (see 5.3.530). [/AS 33.64]

29.55 GOING CONCERN

2.9.55.10 A lBIl[lty doe not p(e e 1t a al stateme: onago C (5 DASIE an g ENn
k) ments on g 1 g oncern

S pal‘ ISﬁn NCL %Il manage 1

dﬁ[e[ﬁll}ﬂes, a'ﬂ:et the Iep Or [H]g datc but before the- iillaIlCIB statements are authﬂﬂsed f()l I)SSUC, tl 1at 1t

1 1te]|dS or haS no altematl\‘e OthEv[ than (18] ][qu datc thB 6‘(1I:1l‘.y or to Stop tr Eldn]g (See ] .2. .“0 . IAS 10 j4|

2.9.60 IDENTIFYING THE KEY EVENT

i triggered by an
2.9.60.10 In some cases, an event after the reporting date. may actually ha\g: E::;Ei negtia = eyﬂy_
2 'nt‘th'at occurred before the reporting date. In such cases, it 1s necessary t.o eUAS o
evel : . ‘ |
ing causes of the event and its timing to determine the appropriate accounting

ExaMPLE 2A — THE KEY EVENT — CUSTOMER BANKRUPTCY

i its
2.9.60.20 Company B receives notice after the reporting date [he:it otn;: ;)fthat
L2.0U.20 ' ; 1
major customers has gone into liquidation. In this case, the stangiar :h z;t it
thejbankruptcy of a customer after the reporting date usually confirms :
existed at the reporting date. [IAS 10.9]

i justi nless
2.9.60.25 Therefore, B concludes that the bankruptcy is an adjusting cven‘:; :Jmam
;V:Idancs to the contrary exists — e.g. the customer became bankrupt be'cauiit?Jl ie
operating plant was destroyed in a fire that happened after the reporting ;
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2.9 Events after the reporting period

Discovery of fraud after reporting date

An entity considers whether adj

usting events impact not only recognised items but alyy
previously unrecognised items. [745 /0. 9]

ial assets in the scope of TAS 39. This is because of the following fair value
cial asset:

he fair values of finan

irements. : ices in active markets for
measu:emfl}t Fe?rzlue measurement — i.e. based on unadjusted quoted Pﬂge:’el?qee 2.4.280). In our
. e 4. i
Level I jatr ey tity can access at the reporting =
ExAmPLE 2B — THE KEY EVENT — Previousty RECOGNISED AND UNRECOGNISED TTEMg . tical assets or liabilities that the en ty weatl & derlying value of the securities because
jdent! Ithough the market may have been mispricing the BOEELL 4 jal instrument in an active
i yiew, altho _ - ; uoted price for a financial ins
- 2.9.60.35 A bank extends a loan to Company C before its reporting date, Com. of inaccurate OT mcomplet‘.? dt;]f::nnauon, “ ! ncluded
. . . CIl. 1 3
i pany D provides a financial guarantee to the bank so that D has the credit risk gf market should not bf.: over ement —1.e. based on inputs other than quoted Pnccs ety Z
non-repayment of the loan by C to the bank. After its reporting date, D TECeiveg Level 2 or Level 3 fair value measure o al-mial asset (Level 2) or unobservable inputs (Level 3)
[ notice that C has gone into administration (bankruptcy). ' ] within Level 1 that are observabl:, fgrgczvenfor such fair value measurements is the same as that
T N 00). The measurement obj ) uld have been at the reporting
Tl (see 24.2 : i ent: what the price was or wo . -
L 2.9.6( D concludes that the bankruptcy is an adjusting event (subject to evi- for a Level 1 fa]_r wellie o eabure\r,zluation that has as its objective fair value at th? P A dljti
dence to the contrary (see Example 2A)) and Trecognises a provision for its estimae date. Therefore, 10.24r vew artl}? t neither was nor would have been reasonably available to marke
1%, 5 of the amount that jt wi]] pay under the guarantee (see 3.12.750), despite not hayig ; should not refiect 1nfonngt10n5 1219 e
s recognised the loan as an asset in its own accounting records, [IAS 10.9, 37.16] paﬂicipants at that date. [IFRS 13.9, 76, 81, .
: . valuation issues.
In some cases, it may be difficult to separate the cx1steluce_anq t:fcg RO .
. =040 n g B uation 18 25
0 In other cases, multiple events may happen, some before and some after the TepOrtin g ; w, if it 35 ;mpracticable to separate the existence and the va
d it is necessary to determine which of the events triggers the recognition of the event in the e, ’
financial statements.

. ample, Fund Q reports
1d ke tizated as an issue related to the existence of gssets. Fo\rt z): a cistodiaﬂ' Q discov-
effect shou N overnment bonds and had its investment adviser, K, ac LH s hrvesmrported
: AL : ) i | ©
an investpent i & K has been charged with fraud. In this case, K is alleg : S
in M=k 2016 that K has . d their owner of record is an affilia !
| B ment bonds as assets of multiple investors an : T ——
<o, gOVerl’ll these government bonds were in existence, the existence o
J{. Although the

i

'y uncertain.

an i i i uation issue, and
If an entity concludes that the subsequent discovery of a frau?.ls ; :Callosed b g ok
2.9.70.50 . ; B d'usting event i dis
: then the non-adj m
iti d as a non-adjusting event,
therefore it is treate

rial. [JAS 10.21]

2 a

28.70.30 In our view, if the dj
financial assets involved, then it justing event for financial statements that
have not yet been authorised for j . This i i

y of the fraud provides additional
information about the existence of financial assets at the reporting date.

20

70.35 If, however, the fraud raises jssue

s related only to the valuation of financial assets at the
reporting date that do exist, then in our view it s

|
hould be treated as a non-adjusting event for reporting
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2.10 Hyperinflation

CURRENTLY EFFECTIVE REQUIREMENTS

This publication reflects IFRS in issue at 1 August 2017, and the currently effective requirements
cover annual periods beginning on 1 January 2017.

The requirements related to this topic are derived from the following.

: IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates
| [AS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies

= 2 -
7 Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29 Financial Reporting ‘
IFRIC in Hyperinflationary Economies

O |

FUETHCOMING REQUIREMENTS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS ‘

ior this topic, there are no forthcoming requirements or future developments.

DI T L T T




2.10 Hyperinflation
Measuring inflation raie

2.10.18 SCOPE

ult in a country being considered hyperinflationary when its three-year curnulative inflation

could €S
rate i, 07 example, only 80 percent.
310.20.30 Although judgement is involved in determining the onset of hyperinflation in a particular

case, @ preference is stated in the standard for all affected entities to apply the standard from the same

date. [14S 2941

MEASURING INFLATION RATE

2.10.30
21040 Appropriate price index
1020 Re o ' . o . .
Comanittes s statement for hyperinflation (see 2.10.20) is not electi T 21040.10  For most countries there are two main indices that are generally used in measuring the
e i}jussed whether an entity, whose functional Siitfency | ve. The IFRS Intefprt“.tatigm eneral inflation rate: a consumer price index (CPI) and a producer or wholesale price index (PPI or
Ty ¢ the corcent of financial capital maintenance deﬁnedy' e F hypennﬂatmnaIYa 13 per. WeI). The CP1 measures the change in the cost of a fixed basket of products and services consumed
i S{?n;t if s0, whether it should follow the requirements i mI}:eSl:H;S of constant Plll‘chasing by ‘typical houschold’, generally including housing, electricity, food and transportation. The PPI
nder : s in : ' .
oF et dusets-atrhe thz w:;ept of financial capital maintenance, a profit is e - dpr?flem its financig] or WPI measures wholesale price levels.
end of the period exceed ’ arned only if the am, '
aftere o s the amount of net » o ount . . _
i JP;Cludmg any distributions to and contributions from ow szt: at the beginning of the period 5104020  TERStequires theuse of a general price index that reflects changes in general purchasing
i jil 2 . i 3 ; o o & 5
1 ers during the period. [CF4, 59%a), 463 power. In »ddition, two of the indicators of hyperinflation refer to the general population rather than a

‘ specific se ot For these reasons, in our view the CPI is the most appropriate index to use in measur-
w ing tie \nflation rate, because it is a broad-based measurement across all consumers in an economy.
§omc jurisdictions have multiple price indices published and further analysis and judgement may be
' required to determine an appropriate index that reliably reflects changes in general purchasing power.

As noted in TAS 29, it is preferable that all entities that report in the currency of the same economy

to use the same index. [IAS 29.37]

2.10.50 Cumulative inflation rate

Indi . . o B o -
dicators of hyper inflation 5105010 TAS 29 refers to a cumulative inflation rate, but is silent on whether the calculation
should be done on a simple or compounded basis. In our view, a compounded inflation rate should

Under IFRS, itis a matter of jud ) ) . A
be calculated because the simple rate aggregates three discrete results without viewing the three-year

l;ecomes nevl:essary. Hyperinflation is indica
ut are not limited to the following.

gement to determine whep restatemen,

fr r h b v,
ted by the characteristics of ap yperinfiatiog

eeutiemy, which include period itself on a cumulative basis. [JAS 29.3]

® The general po
ulati .
. pPop on prefers to keep its wealth in nomn- . E 1-D
oreign currency — amounts of local monetary assets or in a rela tively stabl XAMPLE ETERMINING CUMULATIVE INFLATION RATE
: Currency held are iny .
ing power. ested immediately to maintain purchas-
. 5105020  The inflation rate in three consecutive years is 20%, 30% and 40%,

respectively. The cumulative rate calculated on a simple basis is 90% (20 + 30

+ 40). However, on a compounded basis the rate is 118%, which is calculated

as follows.

® At the start of year 1, assume the index to be 100.

e At the end of year 1, the index is 120 (100 x 1.2).

e Atthe end of year 2, the index is 156 (120 x 1.3).

® At the end of year 3, the index is 218 (156 x 1.4), which gives a cumulative
inflation rate of 118%, calculated as (218 - 100) / 100 or (1 +20%) x (1 +
30%) x (1 +40%)) - 1).

chasing power duri i
ng the credit period, even
, BVe iod is
Interest rates, wages and prices ar e

. e linked to a price i
The cumulative inflation rate over price index.

th is i
Te¢ years is approaching, or exceeds, 100 percent. [745 29 3]

395
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2.10 Hyperinflation

on exchange rate moveme
in the foreign currency used as a benchmark . Althmgh
f the restatement of property, plant and equipment, j
statements whep po
onsidered unreliable, but

adjusted for the effect of inflati on, if there is any,
the standard uses this example in the context o

index is available. The same issue will arise

when the official indices are ¢
this problem should be rare. [IAS 29.17]

6.26

If an entity estimates the index, then
® how the index was estimated;
®

it discloses the following information:

the level of the index at the reporting date; and

® movement in the index during the current and the previous reporting period. [/AS 29.39(c)]

2.10.70 RESTATING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR
HYPERINFLATION

To prepare a statement of financ
ahyperinflationary economy,

2.10.70.10

® Step 2: Restate the
® Step 3: Restate the
® Step 4: Calculate an

statement of financial position at the end of the reporting period,
statement of profit or loss and OCI for the reporting period.

d separately disclose the £ain or loss on the net monetary position. [IAS29 5-1g]

There will also be imp

acts on the statement of changes in equity and
flows from this process. [IAS 29.33]

statement of cash

Step 1: Restate opening statement of financial position

In the statement of financial position at the b
monetary and non-monetary items are ‘indexed up’

current at the reporting date, and therefore reflect th

eginning of the reporting period both
such that they are stated in the measuring unit
€ purchasing power on that later date,

Monetary items - i.e. money held and items to be received or paid in money — are, on

any given date, always stated at their current purchasing power at that date. Therefore, the monetary

396

requires an index to be estimateq, The
rate movements between the fUﬂCtiOna]
; this approach might not be apProprigge

NLs migh pe

Restating financial statements for hyperinflation

at the beginnir po1 i ' their purchas'mg
g go i i d to be indexed up to reflect Hreh
he beginni f the reporting penod also nee . ‘ ' i
jtems f ljmng date — i.e. their opening balance 18 mcrea.sed by the Lh?nge II;,the price 1nc lex
juring te rep( rting pcriod to reflect the fact that the asset had h1gher purchastug ]i_:)() er. [I ht eck anigei
5l e b
in the price 11 y div by the index at the begin

ing of the reporting period. [IAS 29.8, 12]
nin,

t of non-monetary
Deferred income tax balances are calculated after the rgstate;nlen R
. e p i deferred tax balances
- i 1 ion. An entity calculates de
: ire particular consideration. .
5 and require p it : : odulocy: |
items f financial position applying the following _me i g B s
. the carrying amounts of non-monetary 1ems by applying Koo, W,
" i iti i i in
remeaiiurte of the opening statement of financial position — 1.e. by llndc; ﬂ%e gate ol
A the' - dex from the date of acquisition or subsequent revaluation
the price 10

inancial position; . stion in accordance with
Statemenzloff ; d tax a[; the date of the opening statement of financial position 1
measure deterre

i i ts; and
d on those revised carrying amounts; . . N
. brzsfhose eferred tax balances for the chang.e in the mt_aasinnii (\;;iing o the chanse
o tatermoni of financial position to the reporting date — L.e. yfc -
ghniox & i i . [IFRIC7.
fJpj‘t]:;npgﬁ(:f index during the reporting period (see 2.10.140.20) [
in

: iad’ i ments, then the most
If an entity applied IAS 29 in its previous period’s ﬁna.n(ilal Sfitzn is to restate all line
2.10.80 o § A N, of ﬁnancla pDSl es
i obtatniig;a resiatad oponing : ial position reported
efficier t method of - nong monetary items — in the closing statement of ﬁr}anga; p o iy
W ns—1.e. monetary an = i ot nics dex
A t; p;evious period’s financial statements by applying tEC Chﬂﬂgli:?ﬂt bcI:: ause all itoms reported in
e - i ame Tes :
. . ° roach achieves the s .
i e i d to reflect changes 1
i ];riod’s financial statements would have been pf'-’«.‘”O‘-'SlY_r;SLatc s prenio PSS
e PFGVIG‘JZP to the previous reporting date. This is also consistent wit : 0“{ ool
ice index to ) . 0 in §
3 Pﬂ_c‘j Hi: tements are restated when included as comparative informatio
financial state :

financial statements (see 2.10.130).

Step 2: Restate closing statement of financial position
2.10.90 °

2,10 1e stateme o) hl (:Ial iND ition at the v FER, dat 8 al. 8] dEXCd Up to current
8 anil t a1 sS110on h epo g € 5

purchasing power terms.

. ir current purchas-
B se monetary items are, on any given date, always stated alt thsc;rt " noIt) require
10.90.20 ecau : -
- t that date. this means that monetary amounts held at the reporting
ing power at thal > s

restatement.

30 tary items at the beginning of the reporting period are already res}lf\}tled ;?O izﬂz:
- i st ‘“'y rting date in accordance with Step 1 (sefe 2.10.80.29). erd. O,Sﬂls
B e repr(rJlouetary iterns in the reporting period —1.e. no addmorlls ort t;s;ngame
Sum:mg nQ BIHEoY to Fhe D;E;)rtisation and impairment — nonvmoneta.ry items are camed amm{.i o
- 13:&:;? ‘3;5 T:C;?:;Z;’ ’statement of financial position at the ‘ijegin.?mg) Oifﬂ;enf:?:;i Etir i
amou : . y 3 cial position). - / 10
i o f:ijr bZtctila?oa;i)fraiflzlll‘:fitlizrtu},lfhjstiet;n::rtr;ifnfgh;?ountpi 5 adjusted to reflect depreciation or
Z‘;r?g)i:its;?iozp;easured in terms of purchasing power at the reporting date.
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2.10 Hyperinflation

210.90.40  Por example, an item of land measured at cost at the beginning and at the e

‘ : . nd of the
reporting period will be stated at the same amount in both

Statements of financial position

2108050 Deferred taxes are caleulated in accordance with IAS 12 after the restatement of non.
monetary items (see chapter 3.13). i

2.10.100 Step 3: Restate statement of profit or loss and OCI

2.10.106.10 A hyperinflationary statement of
holding monetary assets or liabilities and i

2.10.100.20  The gain or loss from holding moneta

Ty assets or liabilities is an economic concept. Sup-
pose that an entity held 1,000 of cash (and 1

,000 of share capital), and had no other assets, liabiliticg

210,110 Worked example of TAS 29 restatements

ExampLr 2 — RESTATEMENTS TO REFLECT PURCHASING POWER AT REPORTING DATE

210.110.10 Company H was incorporated in December 2015 with a cash capi;’
contribution of 100, and started its operations in 2016,

2.10.110.20  The following facts are also relevant for this example, '

® In December 2016, H bought a piece of land for 600, and entered into a five-
year loan. The land is measured at cost. ‘

® In October 2017, H bou ght inventories,
ber 2017.

® H’s functional currency has been considere

which remained unsold on 31 Decem-

d hyperinflationary since 2015

398
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Restating financial statements for hyperinflation

2 1 011030 The following table shows a general price index of the economy in
which H operates, on specified dates.

Price index at: a
31 December 2015 150
31 December 2016 g
31 October 2017 L
31 December 2017 =
Average price index during 2017

)

Statements of financial position before IAS 29 restatement

HISTORICAL PURCHASING
POWER

31 Drc 2017 31 Dec 2016

100 100
' Share capital (contributed on 31 December 2015) e o
1
Retained earnings = =
Total equity )
600 600
Land (acquired on 31 December 2016) 51 o
Investment securities held for trading T ;
Taventories (acquired on 31 October 2017) i3 5
Trade receivables - 5
Cash
400) (400)
Loan payable 1(150 o
Net assets s
Statement of profit or loss and OCI before IAS 29 restatement
2017
1,150
Revenue 3 5
Gain on change in fair value of investment securities e
Interest on loan payable o
Other expenses -

Step 1: Restate opening statement of financial position
2.10.110.40  The statement of financial position as at 3.1 Dec?mber 20{ 1 :S(;thlllu;ry&
2017) is restated so that it is expressed in thfa measuring unit curren

cember 2017. H can apply one of the following approaches.
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2.10 Hyperinflation

® Agproach 1. Restate the historical statement of finan
ning of the reporting period: ;

;181116111&(:;623 tlit;iz 11]13 ;httzhstatiment of financial position as at 31 Decemp
. ¢ change in the index from the
z:(c:z:zr; :::ZIIII:: were acquired or contributed to 31 Decembe‘ia:) lt!i]f:aig‘
oy e Das at 31 December 2016 are multiplied by the change’ in ‘
P e s lec;mber 2016 to 31 December 2017 (1.33 = 200/ 150
i statemel.lt - ﬁnp y . ] asstat.s and liabilities reported in the hyperinfia
255 g e atllmal position as at 31 December 2016 (i.e. as restaté;{"
s ik price index to 31 December 2016) by the change in ther: :
ecernber 2016 to 31 December 2017 (1.33 =200/ 150). [148 29 :

1al position at the b

2.10.110.50 l hl exam Ie t 1[!C111de aIly mcome taxes. Ii Ii a] []
2.140) 8 p dOCS no just X
Pp

Approach 1, then to determine the opening bala

2 nce of the deferred it wou

i (c):i tPor :;]:sa\;f ttl:e m;ethodology described in 2.10.80.40. Therefmf:,mit1 tv:

'l inc;::;y y Approach 2 because H can simply restate all the assets |
& luding deferred tax items in its opening stat -

pos.mon by applying the change in the T

period (see 2.10.80.50).

price index during the current Tepo

This example illustrates Approach 2.

Statement of financial position as at 1 January 2017

31 Dec 2016 31 Drc 2016 1 Jan 2017 |

’H.

[ [

HISTORICAL REPORTED  EXPRESSED JN k\ ‘
PURH

CHASING INPRIOR 31 DEc 2017 | |

POWER PERIODY PURCHAING | ‘

JOWER®
Share capital (contributed on
31 December 2015) 100
Retained earnings s i
e g 800 7501 1,000
equit 7
y 900 900 1,200
Land (acquired on 31 December 2016) 600
Investment securities held for trading 150 m, W
_ ‘ 15 200 |
Inventories (acquired on 31 October 201 i) ! 4 |
Trade receivables 200 ! ;
" 200 267
sl 350 350 467
4
Net assets Fo = o

400

Restating financial statemenis for hyperinflation

Notes

1. Asincluded in the 2016 hyperinflationary financial statements.

2. Asrestated for inclusion as comparatives/opening position in the 2017 financial statements. All assets a
arc adjusted Lo be expressed in 31 December 2017 purchasing power, All amounts aré calculated by multiplying the
corresponding figures in the statement of financial position at 31 December 2016 as reported in the prior period by
{he change in the price index during 2017 —Le. (200/ 150).

3, Calculated as historical purchasing power amount multiptied by change in price index from date of contribution to
31 December 2016 —i.e. (150/ 100).

4. Restated retained earnings are a balancing figure derived from the other
position.

nd liabilities

amounts in the restated statement of financial

Step 2: Restate closing statement of financial position

51011060 The statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017 is restated
so that it is expressed in the measuring it current at that time. Non-monetary items
_i.e. share capital, land and inventories — are restated from their acquisition or contri-
bution date. The investment securities held for trading are not restated, because they
are stated af fair value at the reporting date. Monetary items — i.e. trade receivables,
cash and the loan payable — as at 31 December 2017 are not restated, because they
are, already expressed in purchasing power at that date. [IAS 29.12, 14-15, 18]

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017

31 DEc 2017 31 Drc 2017
HISTORICAL  EXPRESSED IN

purcHASING 31 DEc 2017
POWER PURCHASING
POWER
Share capital 100 2000
Retained earnings 1,050 1,161@
U et o SR e
Total equity 1,150 1361 |
Land 600 800
Tnvestment securities held for trading 250 250
Inventories 100 111®
Trade receivables 500 500
Cash 100 100
Loan payable (400) (400)
Net assets 1,150 1,361
Notes
1. Share capital contributed in 2015, calculated using the change in the index from 31 December 2015 to 31 December
2017 as ((200 7 100) x 100).

2. Restated retained sarnings are a balancing figure derived from the other amounts in the restated stalement of financial

position. The increase reflects the net result for the period, which includes the monetary loss of 125 (see 2.10.110.70).




Restating financial statements for hyperinflation
2.10 Hyperinflation

. I et ltems
Appl‘ﬂach : D]ffErence fl‘Ol’l‘l I estatemEHt 01 Mo monetary
g end of 2016, ulated ]

as ((200/ 150) x 600).
4. Inventory bought in October 2017, calculated us
2017 as ((200 / 180) x 100).

& the change in the index from 31 December 2016 1o 31 December;wm;

NON-MONETARY ITEMS

ing the change in the index from 31 October 2017 to 31 Decemp,

S AvoOUNT  EXPRESSED IN DIFFERENCE
o PURCHASING RESULTING
POWER AT FROM THE
Step 3: Restate statement of profit or loss and 0CI PURGHASING 31 DEc 2017  RESTATEMENT
POWER AT
2.10.110.70  Income and expenses recorded

in the statement of profit or loss
OCI are restated to reflect changes in the

price index from the date on which
are recorded initially in the financial statements. In this example, an average ip
is applied. [145 29.26]

Restatement of non-monetary assets z

Land Dec 2016 600 800 -
111

Inventories Oct 2017 100

Statement of profit or loss and QCI

Restatement of owner’s equity

(50)
! (150) (200
31Dsc2017  Restarevint Rl gt W (1,000) (250)
HISTORICAL Refalhed earnings Dec 2016 (750) )
PURCHASING

POWER

1
| + Kestatement of items in the statement of profit or loss and OC

(36)
(see 2.10.110.70) 125
Revenue 1,150 165 Loss on net monetary position
even y
Gain on change in fair value of investments 100 14
) ¢ onetary amounts
Interest on loan payable (100) (14) it e [11; yeta:y items in the statement of financial
te the gain/loss on holding mon k s S
Other expenses (900) (129) e Calcula S o 2R d based on the purchasing p
Profit el g e position at the beginning of the reporting perio
rofit before gain or loss on net monet.
position = 250 36 as at 31 December 2017.

Loss on net monetary position

acti that oc-
e Adjust the above amount for the effect of net molnetary transactgins;ﬁ ik
curred during 2017 by comparing the restated carrying amounts to the
transaction amounts.

Net assets

Notes

Loss on net monetary position
Revenue calculated using averaj

ge index for 2017 ~ i.e. (200 / 175) x 1,150).
Gain on change in fair value of investments calculated using average index for 2017 — j.c. {200/ 175) x 100).
Interest on loan payable calculated using average index for 2017 — .. €200/ 175) x 100).

i
2 1 Jan 2017 NET CHANGE IN MONETARY 31 Duc 2017
3

5 Other expenses calculated using average index for 2017 - Le. (200 175) x 900y

5

6

TTEMS
See calculation in 2.10.110.80.

Restatement of items in the statement of profit or loss and OCL

RELATED TO RELATED TO
TRANSACTIONS  TRANSACTIONS
DURING 2017 N OCTOBER

Step 4: Calculate gain or loss on net monetary position

2017

1

!

2.10.110.80  The gain or loss on the net monetary position can be: l

® derived as the difference resulting from the restatement of non-monetary as- Investment securities held 150 100 b 430
Sets, owners’ equity and items in the Statement of profit or loss and OCI and the l for trading ion 350 A 500
adjustment of index linked assets and liabilities (Approach 1): or | Trade receivables s (150) (100) 100
estimated by applying the change in the general price index to the weighted Cash P 5 {400)
average for the period of the net amounts of monetary assets and liabilities J| Loan payable iy
(Approach 2). [14S 29.27)

403
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4.3 Government grants

DEFINITIONS

4.3.10.10 _ Government grants are transfers of resources to an entity by a government entigy :

for compliance with certain past or future conditions related to the entity’s operating acti t‘y'm e
a gov_emment subsidy. The definition of ‘government’ refers to governments e
and similar bodies, whether local, national or international. [/AS 20.3] 7

eg
EOVernment agenciog

4.3, an’ . Gove@ment assistance that is provided for an entity in the form of benefig th
avall_ablle-m determining taxable profit or tax loss, or are determined or limited on the basis of j 3
tax liability, are not in the scope of TAS 20. [14S 20.2(b)] S

4.3.10.2( QOvemment assistance meets the definition of a government grant even if the conditj
are only a requirement to operate in certain regions or industry sectors. [SIC-10] N

4.3.10.30 IAS 20 establishes accounting requirements only for government assistance i th

O.f grants. Therefore, the distinction between government grants and other forms of eov o
sistance is important. Government assistance is not considered a government gTLant i% thzmm'em 3
c:annlot.reasonably have a value placed on it or is a transaction with a government bod; tl?ssmance
be distinguished from the normal operating transactions of the entity. [/AS 20.3, 34-38] T

4.3.10.35

If 4 government provides free technical or marketing advice or other services Or gu;

tees, then the assistance is not normally recognised in the financial statements. Similarly, a goveg -
pracurement contract, or similar arrangement, whereby a government body agrees to buy, certai el
produced by an entity is not normally distinguished from the normal operations of the entity nclo'urput
treate(_i as a government grant. The extent of government agsistance that does not take the ?“ .
grant is, however, disclosed if it is significant and benefits the entity directly. [JAS 20.3, 34-38] i

"Vd In addition, if the government provides support to an entity and is also a sharal,ol
in that entity, then the entity needs to assess whether the government is acting in ite - rt“"m :
sl?are%lolder or as government (see 7.5.390.20). If there are no terms attached (o a gov;n;;&);;tltgo:s
tribution requiring the entity to comply with certain conditions, then that contributiorn is most likel -
not a government grant. For example, a local bus company receives buses from L‘wé guvernment; thi
government is also the sole shareholder of the bus company and a similar centrituﬁon is not avaﬂ;ble
to oth_er bus companies. There are no further conditions attached to the contribution of the buses, but
there e general expectation that the company will provide bus services to the local commum't); To
determine the proper accounting for the contributed assets, the economic substance of the tra.nsacLiDH
needs to be analysed. In our view, providing public transportation in the local area is an objective of
the compaty itself, and not a condition of the contributed assets. In addition. the contribution is not
available to other companies. Therefore, we believe that in this example the c::mtributed assets do not
meet the definition of a government grant; the government is acting in its capacity as a shareholder
and the asset contribution should be recognised as a capital contribution. For a discussion of the
evaluation of shareholder transactions, see 1.2.80. [74S 20.3] l

4320 Forgivable loans

f s A government may extend a loan that will be forgiven if certain conditions are met (a
orgivable loan). A forgivable loan is treated as a government grant only when there is reasonable

1028
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ognised

Recognition and measurement

ce that the entity will meet the terms for forgiveness of the loan. Otherwise, the loan is rec-
as a liability (see 4.3.100). [24S 20.3, 10, IU 11-15]

1 1 — LOAN FORGIVABLE IF CERTAIN CONDITIONS MET

ExaMP

4.3.20.20 Company C is launching an airline. Government Z provides C with
financing to fund the launch. The financing is in the form of a loan that will
be repayable by C if the business is successful, but the amount advanced will
not be repaid if the airline is launched but the business is unsuccessful. In our
view, C should recognise the amount received as a liability. We believe that the
liability would become a government grant (forgivable loan) if, and only if, the
venture does not succeed — i.e. when it is reasonably assured that the business is

not successful.

4330 Waivzer of expenses

4.3.30.10 T sume cases, instead of providing a cash grant, a government may waive amounts pay-
able by the =ity — e.g. a liability for taxes. In our view, these qualify as government grants because in
substance there is a transfer of resources, although it is in the form of a waiver of expenses (see 4.3.80).

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

4.3.40.10 Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the entity
will comply with the relevant conditions and the grant will be received. [IAS 20.7]

4.3.40

4.3.40.20 Grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis as the entity recognises as
expenses the costs that the grants are intended to compensate. [IAS 20./2]

4.3.40.30 Grants that relate to the acquisition of an asset are recognised in profit or loss as the
asset is depreciated or amortised. For a discussion of the presentation of such grants in the statement
of financial position and in the statement of profit or loss and OCI, see 4.3.130. [I45 20.17]

4.3.40.40 If a grant relates to a non-depreciable asset, then an entity considers the conditions related
to the grant. For example, an entity is granted land on the condition that it operates a building on that
land. The entity recognises the land at its fair value. In this case, the grant is recognised in profit or
loss as the building is depreciated because the operation of the building is the condition attached to
the grant. [1AS 20.18]

4.3.40.50 In some cases, a grant may relate to an asset that will be used both to fulfil the condi-
tions of the grant and for other activities of the entity. In our view, the grant should be recognised in
profit or loss systematically based on the cost incurred in meeting the conditions of the grant — i.e.
excluding consideration of the timing of recognition of the costs of activities that are not related to

the conditions of the grant.

1029




4.3 Government grants

Exa —
_ MPLE 2 — GRANT OF LAND — CONDITIONAL ON CONSTRUCTION AND OPERATION

—-—-—‘—'—"‘\-

4.3.40.60 Company D receives a grant of 1 ises i
value, _The conditions of the grant reqiglire Dto Ezi'sr?u:ic:f Ezelzzglcalrfg (tl . fau
for a given period, a sports stadium. D assesses whether the arrangeme; ‘lt‘fJPffrate,
1sacrope of IFBIC 12 (see 5.12.01) and concludes that it is not. The piecenoéslm t}Te i
ger 'than 1s required to construct the stadium and D disposes of the e aﬂd1§
to a third party. In our view, the whole of the grant (i.e. the value of all XF s
granted) should be recognised systematically based on the costs incurn g i i 16_11{i :
ing the conditions of the grant — i.e. the costs of operating the stacﬁume o

34076 A grant thati il
o gtf p t th?t H compensation for expenses or losses already incurred, or for which th
ated costs, is recognised in profit or loss i o g ere
. n the period in which .
Therefore, if a governmen i - 2 which.t becories reg
t provides an entity with ann eivable,
. ual grants that d
then thy 5 . g 0 not relate to fu
© grant m respect of each period is recognised as it becomes receivable. [745 20.20] o

Non-monetary grants

- accountinglfpi fgig}\:e::)l?:]: gl;e_m; is in .thc form of a non—.monetary asset, then an entity chooses
o Hon_mon;ta pplie con51sFent]y, to recognise the asset and grant at either the fair
— r% e;?lsit or th; nominal amount paid (nominal value). For example, Govern-
e v Compar y : L em o property, plant and equipment with a fair value of 50 for no

ures both the item of property, plant and equipment and the grant either at 50

or a i ich in thi i
t nominal value, which in this case is zero. TAS 20 notes that fair value is the

[74S 20.23] usual approach,

Fair value is measured in accordance with IFRS 13, which is the subject of chapter 2.4

4.3.60 Grants related to biological assets

e bio}ﬁsg iéir; f};g:gttsic;ri tg the general recogmhon principle, an unconditional geveinment grant

S ol .tab are measureq at fair value less costs to sell (see 32 9.20) is recog-

i en 1h ecomes rec‘ellvablle. If the government grant is conditional, then it is

S 1 T os?s when the condition is met. TAS 20 applies to government grants related
ological assets to which the cost model applies (see 3.9.70.10). [ZAS 41.34-33, 37]

+3.70 Grants related to oth .
or loss er assets measured at fair value through profit

4 510 i i i
biological assitlsfhtcl);ﬁ};r?:le . szmﬁc _guldance on accounting for government grants related to
s Ton goverama easured at fair value less costs to sell (see 4.3.60), there is no similar
rissipa n ﬁgtrantj related to _other assets that are measured at fair value with changes
i ol focs Bt I1351.'8) Ior 088 — €.g. investment property for which the entity applies the fair
related to biologica-l a;ssets.s.fi1 Olllé l:lew‘ " I S i governmenl LS
an asset measured at fair valugt\lvithf:ligrpilglzs ﬂ]?érae'ilimg)’- T}'leref'orc’ e e thata grentes S
in profit or loss when it becomes receivable, providézct?li?:gl :tltgﬁf:l ?:rc)i?c:istjsc}};(;u;feb:uig;?}imsw
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L& 3A — GRANT OF INVESTMENT PROPERTY — UNCONDITIONAL

ExAMP

4.3.70.20 On 25 January 2017, Local Government F grants Company G a
property with a fair value of 450; ownership of the property is transferred to G at
the same time. G classifies the property as investment property, which it measures
at fair value. The fair value of the property on 31 December 2017 is 480. There are
no conditions attached to the grant.

4.3.70.23 We believe that the government grant of 450 should be recognised
in profit or loss on 25 January 2017. A gain on revaluation of the property of 30
is recognised on 31 December 2017 when the investment property is revalued in
accordance with the requirements of IAS 40 (see chapter 3.4).

4.3. 7028 On 30 September 2017, Company H buys a residential building,
willicil is partially funded by a grant from local government. H classifies the build-
ii:g as investment property and measures it at fair value. The nominal value of the
grant is repayable if specified works intended to improve the energy efficiency of
the building are not finished by 30 June 2018. The specified works are finalised in

May 2018.

4.3.70.30 At the end of 2017, H revalues its investment property and reco gnises
any changes in fair value in profit or loss. Notwithstanding the fact that H received
the grant attached to the building before the end of 2017, H defers recognition of
the grant in profit or loss until the date on which the conditions are met. Accord-
ingly, H recognises income from the grant on completion of the specified works in
May 2018; for a discussion of repayable grants, see 4.3.90.

4.3.80 Grants in form of waiver of expenses

4.3.80.10 In our view, the general recognition principles apply to grants in the form of a waiver of
expenses. Therefore, we believe that such grants should be recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis as the entity recognises as expenses the costs the grant is intended to compensate.

ExampLE 4 — WAIVER OF CURRENT TAX PAYABLE

4.3.80,20 Company N receives an investment tax credit (ITC) in the form of
a waiver of current taxes payable and it concludes that accounting for the ITC by
analogy to a government grant is appropriate (see 3.13.710).

4.3.80.25 If the expenditure to which the grant relates is incurred in the period in
which the tax is waived, then the benefit of the tax relief is reflected in that period. I
the expenditure will be incurred in a future period, then the benefit of the tax relief
is deferred in the statement of financial position until the expenditure is incurred.




4.3 Government grants

: Similarly, if the grant relates to the acquisition of an asset, thep the
benefit of the tax relief is deferred in the statement of financial position ang recog.
nised in profit or loss as the related asset is depreciate:

4.3.1

O A0

For guidance on the presentation of grants in the form of a waiver of expenses, see 4.3 |5
4.3.90 Repayment
4.3.90.10 A government grant may be required to be repaid under certain conditions —

€.g. if the
actual costs to which the grant relates are lower than expected.

0.2 If the amount is recognised as a government grant and subsequently some or the entira
amount becomes repayable unexpectedly, then the repayment is accounted for as a change in estimae
(see 2.8.110). In our view, the effect of the change in estimate should be recognised in the period in Which
management concludes that it is no longer reasonably assured that the terms for forgiveness will be met,
In our view, a financial liability should be recognised at the same time for the amount of the Tepaymen,
based on the general requirements of 1AS 30 — i.e. at fair value (see 7.6.20). The amount would diffep
from the face value of the grant if the interest rate is not a market rate of interest (see 4.3.100). In oy
view, the repayable portion of the credit previously recognised should be reversed as follows:
® the credit may have been shown as deferred income or a credit to an asset, in which case the
reversal should be against the appropriate line item in the statement of financial position; and/op
® the credit may have been recognised as a reduction in depreciation or amortisation of an asset

or as income, in which case the reversal should be against the appropriate line item in profit or
loss. [145 20.32]

The entity also considers whether the change in circumstances that gave rise o fie
repayment of the loan is an indication of impairment (see 3.10.110). [z45 20.33]

43 i} In some circumstances, a financial liability in respect of a grant that becemnes repayable
may be forgiven; for a discussion of forgivable loans, see 4.3.20. In our view, if there is reasonable
assurance that the entity will meet the terms for forgiveness of such a loan, then i should be accounted
for as a government grant and the amount received recognised over the compliance period. Otherwise,
we believe that the loan should be treated as a financial liability.

4.3.100 Low-interest loans

) Low-interest or interest-free loans from a government are recognised and measured in
accordance with TAS 39. 1AS 39 requires loans at below-market rates to be initially measured at their
fair value — e.g. the present value of the future cash flows discounted at a market interest rate — and
interest expense to be recognised on the loan subsequently under the effective interest rate method
(see 7.6.60 and 240). The benefit that is the government grant is measured as the difference between
the fair value of the loan on initial recognition and the amount received, which is accounted for ac-
cording to the nature of the grant. [74s 20.10A, 39.43, AG64]

4.3.100,20

In some situations, a government may provide a loan at market rate that will be modified
to a lower rate when the entity spends the funds provided on qualifying research and development
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Presentation and disclosures

i f i t rate and
In our view, the difference between the fair value of the loan at a market mtte}gz; e and
e ; 1 government grant.
F i hould be accounted forasag i
the low interest rate loan s . i
'iies are expensed as they are incurred, whereas payments on develo.pmﬁpt cuvitiesare
& the criteria set out in TAS 38 are met (see 3.3.120). Therefore, in this s1 Dsts,that
f: Bnalrt of the government grant related to research activities and clevelgpmeut dc st
: 3 curred; w
italjsle):d should be recognised in profit or loss when the r?a;ed coa_,tsi a;fl ;neither weaso
- ) ti licy, to be applied consistently, _
an accounting policy,
‘ B it ‘ed intangible asset or to recognise
o= 12 italised development costs from the related intang
i S italised development costs
g i d release them to profit or loss as the capi !
s ag deferred income an : ‘ : oy
such gr ﬁ.t‘ed' for a discussion of the presentation of grants related to asselts, see e
o i ised on a systematic basis because the entity recognises, ses,
f the grant is recognise v
the benefit o

the costs the grant is intended to compensate.
e

Emissions allowances

i issions allowances
IFRS does not have any specific guidance on accounting for emissions a

£ 1 ' . ~ nt f T
E L Elde Scheme [n Our view lf an allOWﬂﬂCe 15 CLBlVEd .[I om a gOVEI nme Q
1 “ )

- ‘1Cra » i i applied consistently,
- Hs fai \I')ah'c then the entity should choose an accounting policy, to be applic
less than 1ts e,

i the difference between the fair
i overnment grant at fair value (as : 5
A o d) or to recognise it at the nominal amount

43.110

gither fo recoguts

value O Y l( wance a l(! the cor Q'{it‘,l a‘i()“ f '(].Dy) pai
o) It ' : (]\ i 0ac O =, [l(”lctaly rants

] T i .ﬁcﬂte ]AS 20 notes thﬂt fair ’alue 15 the LlSllﬂl appr bl h f T 1on g

d N fue cel .

13 l 2 4 III CIETT ] € al d TECO! Hised 'Il pI‘Oﬁt or
Ste 60 nd 3 50 10) c gra]‘lt iS recogmsed as d fﬂ ed 1INCoIn n Cl g 1 i
y . S I . . l ‘ '
.:[‘ :a (‘)‘l a SyS'ﬁmatiC baSiS over [h{“‘» C()mplial‘lce perlod, I‘Egard]ess Of W‘l 1€ her [116 dH'OW ance recer VCd.
lc()]’ t[‘]]ues (8] be held by the e'ﬂﬁty. DiSPDSalS Of Ceﬂiﬁcates or Chﬂngcs 1n thelI carr ylﬂg. ElIle()u.nt— c g
b & ()‘ 1 ] 3 = d not a“ect [he manner 1m thh g] ant
i !I i i t01 Chﬂ.ptﬂr 3.10 (4] i
ecal mi all’Hlent, Whlch 18 the Sub €C : .

i i eCOngSed AS an altemati\'e o [he defened income apprO&Ch, Wwe beheve that an y

inCOmE 15 - entit llla}

i i the accounting
¢ an allowance net of the deferred government grant. For further discussion of
present a

for emissions allowance schemes, see 3.12.510. [/AS 20.23]

ich i ject 2.4.
Fair value is measured in accordance with TFRS 13, which is the subject of chapter

4.3.110.20

43.120 PRESENTATION AND DISCLOSURES

43.130 Presentation of grants related to assets

S i &
1313010 Government grants related to assets other the_m b1olog1ci11 sssefj ;Zzgsgl;rizceidazstio\gtlz ¥
less costs to sell and other assets measured at fair value with changes t f:re;esemaﬁon) e
loss (see 4.3.70), may be either deducted from the cost of the alsset (1;;31 P s
separately as deferred income that is amortised over the useful hf*.‘: 1i)’fld Z asa leszee i
In our view, this approach also applies to grants related to assets ﬁe C}{B‘l e et
lease. An entity chooses a presentation format in the statement of financial p ,

consistently to all government grants related to assets. [IAS 8.13, 20.24]

i i ition i rant reduces
1313015 If net presentation in the statement of financial position 1s used, th«lafn the gm -
= AL b : " o
the cost and therefore reduces the depreciation expense recognised. Howave_ti;, i e 1e3srs s
government grants related to assets (other than biological assets measured at fair
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4.3 Government grants

sell and other assets measured at fair value with changes therein recognised in profit or losg) gross
in the statement of financial position, then 1AS 20 does not require a specific presentation in the
statement of profit or loss and OCL In our view, an entity should choose an accounting policy, to be

applied consistently, to present such grants either as income or as a reduction in the related eXpense
[745 20.27]

ExAMPLE 5A — GRANT RELATED TO ASSET — PRESENTATION TN STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PO

SITION
AND DEPRECIATION

4121

0.20 Company F received a government grant of 200 to acquire machjn-
ery. The machinery costs 700 and has an estimated useful life of five years. If F
presents the grant as a deduction from the cost of the machinery, then the asset
is shown in the statement of financial position at its net cost of 500 (700 - 200),
The grant is recognised in profit or loss over the useful life of the depreciable

asset and presented as a reduction to the annual depreciation expense of 100
(500 / 5).

WL

4.3.13 If the grant is presented as deferred income, then the machinery is
shown at its gross cost of 700 and annual depreciation on the machinery is 140

(700 / 5). In addition, F presents deferred income of 200. Each year, 40 (200 / 5)
, | is recognised in profit or loss.

* In our view, the choice of net or gross presentation (see 4.3. 130.10) has no impact on
the timing of recognition in profit or loss.

ExAMPLE 5B — GRANT RELATED TO ASSET — PRESENTATION OF DEPRECTATION AND AMORTISATI,N
OF DEFERRED INCOME

4373040  Continuing Example 5A, assume that the machinery is vsed in F's
production plant for producing inventories for sale in the ordinary cariise of busi-
ness. The depreciation of the machinery is reflected in the cost of inventories. In
accordance with F’s accounting policies, the machinery is shown at its gross cost

— Le. the grant is presented as deferred income.

4,3.130:45 In our view, the amortisation of the deferred income should be included
in the cost of inventory. This means that the amortisation of the deferred income
will be recognised in profit or loss at the same time as the depreciation on the ma-
chinery —i.e. as inventory is sold. This approach is consistent with the principle in
LAS 20 that the benefit of a government grant is recognised at the same time as the
expenses to which it relates.

1.3.1 In our view, if an entity presents government grants as a deduction from the related asset,
but the grant is received before the asset is recognised, then the grant should be shown as deferred
income until the asset is built or acquired.
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Presentation and disclosures

o The deferred income is generally classified as a non-current liability when an entity
4,3.130.60

cents a classified statement of financial position (see 3.1.10.10).
pre

D Presentation of grants related to income
4.3.140

4010  An entity chooses a presentation format, to be applied consistet.ltly, either to offsez a
- t ;e:lated to income against the related expenditure or to include it in other income. Fo1? example,
. any P receives a government grant of 100 to fund research costs of 500. P has a choice of pre-
Cmgﬁg net research costs of 400, or gross research costs of 500 and other income of 100. Regardless
sen > .
of P's choice, it is applied consistently. [IAS 8.13, 20.29]

150 Presentation of grants in form of waiver of expenses
4.3.15( |

-010  TInour view, either a net or a gross approach may be used to present a grant in the form
4.3.150.1u
of a waiver of expenses.

5020 For a discussion of the accounting and presentation consequences of a waiver of taxes
4.3.150.2¢

that is determined to ve an ITC, see 3.13.670.

43.160 Related party disclosures

516010 ) If the government is also a shareholder, then additional related party disclosures are
4.3.164 L <

require: (see chapter 5.5).
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44  Employee benefits

CURRENTLY EFFECTIVE REQUIREMENTS

This pub]ication reflects TFRS in issue at 1 August 2017, and the currently effective requirements
cover annual periods beginning on 1 January 2017.

The requirements related to this topic are derived from the following.

‘! Employee Benefits

i
\ IAS 19 — The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding
\ Requirements and their Interaction

FORTULCOMING REQUIREMENTS

fi this topic, there are no forthcoming requirements.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

The currently effective requirements that may be affected by future developments are highlighted
with a * and are briefly discussed in 4.4.1520.
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4.4 Employee benefits

falls, then the employee is not entitled to the payment. In our view, although the cash payment depends
on the share price, it is not based on the share price. Therefore, we believe that the cash payment i ot
a share-based payment but an employee benefit in the scope of IAS 19 (see 4.5.1950.10).

4.4.70.20 A cash payment may be based on but not equal to the share price. If an employee i
entitled to a payment equal to the share price at vesting date, then the employee participates one-tg.
one in share price increases. In our view, a payment determined as a linear function of the sh
(or its movements) is based on the share price and therefore is a share-based
if the employee is entitled to 60 percent of the share price or to 200 percent
we believe that the payment is based on the value of the equity
based payment (see 4.5.1950.20).

are price
payment. For example,
of the share price, then
instruments and therefore is 3 share-

1.4.80 Types of employee benefit

4.:4.50.10 Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by an entity in exchange for
service rendered by employees or for the termination of employment. [IAS 19.8]

4.4 i

: IAS 19 sets out the requirements for four types of employee benefit:
® provided in exchange for services rendered by employees:

— post-employment benefits (see 4.4.90);

— short-term employee benefits (see 4.4.1220); and

— other long-term employee benefits (see 4.4.1310); and
® provided in exchange for termination of employment:

— termination benefits (see 4.4.1440). [74S /6.5]

4.4.90 POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

Definition and scope of post-employment benefits

4410610

Post-employment benefits are employee benefits {other than terminaticn benefits and
short-term employee benefits) that are payable after the completion of employment (before or during

retirement) — e.g. pensions, lump sum payments on retirement or medical benafiis atier employment.
[IAS 19.5(b), & 26]

4.4 70

:100.26  Some plans are specifically established to provide benefits both during and after the
completion of employment. For example, Company K has a fund for paid annual leave. Any surplus
in the fund is used to make pension payments. In our view, a plan that is established specifically to
pay benefits both during and after the completion of employment should be treated as a long-term
employee benefit plan (see 4.4.1310), rather than as a post-employment benefit plan.

4.4

§ If a plan offers different benefits (i.e. under different benefit formulas) to different groups
of beneficiaries (e.g. active employees vs retirees) and is funded by separate pools of assets or a single
pool of assets but with appropriate controls in place, then the benefits offered during employment and
post-employment are accounted for separately because separate promises are made to employees and
retirees, and under different benefit formulas. As such, benefits offered to retirees are accounted for
as a post-employment benefit (see 4.4.200.20-30 and 330.20).
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o04¢  Long-term disability benefits are an example of other long-term t_:mp.loyee benefits
-34 4.1410). However, if a long-term disability benefit is payable only after-termlna‘tjon of cmplo_y-
(Seet .then in our view the benefit is a post-employment benefit. In addition, in our view a lon g—.te_un
IT?cﬂb’jlity benefit that is payable only if an employee remains employed but is no long‘.ar .prcdemg
dlsf;ces should also be accounted for as a post-employment benefit. We believe that this is, in sub-
Z:;nce, the same as if employment ends for the employee. [IAS 79.155, 157]

44110 Severance payments

4411010 Severance payments and other amounts that are always payable on cessation\ of ::hm-
ployment, regardless of the reason for the employee leaving, are post—erpployment benefits, Zzﬁ ;1]"
than termination benefits. For example, Company B makes paymcrjts to its employ;is on celz on
of employment regardless of the reason that the 61.11[)105(66. leaves B’s employmer:t. e e{;npl S); =
entitled to one week’s salary for each year of service provided, based on t‘he emp oyefe s1 nal trl'i;
Because the amount is payable on cessation of employment regardless of the reason for leaving,
plan is a post-employment benefit plan. [IAS 19.164]

44.116.26 ¢ yormal principles apply in determining whether such post-emplolymc‘nt plans give
1-'1;3 to definad venefit or defined contribution plans. The amount of the payments 1s ::}i:ten.bas?d on
factors suCh s the number of years of service or final salary. Therefgre, these plalms often give rise tc;
adefitiea benefit plan. The principles set out in 4.4.300-1200, including the requirements to d‘lSCOUIt]
¢ obligation and to use the projected unit credit method, apply to any dcﬁned_ beneﬁt'arran hgerilcn S
and therefore also to these plans. Example 31, illustrating the year one calculations for an other long-
term employee benefit, also applies to severance payments.

44170 Constructive obligations

4212010 Post-employment benefit plans include not only formal arrangements but al so informal
practices that give rise to ‘constructive obligations’. Therefore, the accounting treatment is the same,
regardless of whether an obligation is legal or constructive. [[AS 19.61 ]

4412020 Constructive obligations arise when an entity has no realistic a.ltcnllative_ but to pay the
employee benefits. They may arise from informal past practices or communication with employees.
For further discussion of:

e classification, see 4.4.130.60;

® actuarial assumptions, see 4.4.430; and

® general guidance on constructive obligations, see 3.12.60.

44,130 Distinction between defined contribution and defined benefit plans

4413010 Post-employment plans are classified as either defined contribution or defined benefit
plans. The classification determines the accounting treatment. [IAS 19.27]

44 o A post-employment plan is classified as a defined contributign p_lan if the entity pays
fixed contributions into a separate entity (a fund) and will have no further obligation (legal or cons@c-
tive) to pay further amounts if the fund has insufficient assets to pa;i all employee benefits relating
to current and prior service. All other post-employment plans are defined benefit plans. [I45 /9.8, 2§]
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4.4 Employee benefits
'5.-.‘.-—:.} th:ther an entity applies defined benefit or defined contribution accounting, it applieg
IAS 37 in determining when to recognise and how to measure a liability that arises from the wi "
of a multi-employer defined benefit plan or the entity’s withdrawal from a multi-employer d
benefit plan (see chapter 3.12). [JIAS /9.39]

]]d-ul:)
efined

Availability of sufficient information

14 10 Itisclear from their definition that multi-employer plans expose participating entitieg ¢
the actuarial risk of other entities’ employees, yet the standard envisages that it may be possible for ;
entity to apply defined benefit accounting to its proportionate share of the plan. Therefore, exposureetm
the actuarial risk of other entities” employees alone is not enough to justify the application of defip g
contribution accounting to a defined benefit multi-employer plan. In our view, sufficient iﬂfOrmatiz
is available for defined benefit accounting to be applied for participation in a multi-employer deﬁneg
benefit plan if:
® the participant in the multi-employer plan has access to information about all components of the
plan (e.g. plan assets, defined benefit obligation, remeasurements, service cost, net interest) and
not only knowledge of the net deficit or surplus (i.e. an actuarial valuation on an IAS 19-compli-
ant basis for the plan as a whole is available to participating entities); and
® the stated basis for allocating the deficit or surplus is reasonably stable. For this to be the case the
methodology for allocating the deficit or surplus should remain consistent and the allocation sh(’)u]d
not result in significant variability of the entity’s proportion of the deficit or surplus. [745 1 9.36]
4415020 In our view, the assessment of whether the stated basis for allocating the deficit or sur-
plus is reasonably stable should be made in relation to the entity participating in the plan. As such
the size of the entity’s share of the plan may affect this assessment. ‘

ExampLE 1 — MULTI-EMPLOYER PLAN — ASSESSING STABILITY OF ALLOCATION BASIS

t4180.30  Companies B and D, together with other companies, parfici,aie m
a multi-employer benefit plan. The plan allocates the deficit or surplu: vased on
a plan-wide contribution rate that is calculated based on each comrary’s relative
percentage of pensionable earnings. B and D estimate that their re Tative percentage
of pensionable earnings may increase or decrease by five perceniage points from
year to year. B’s share of the plan is significant, and therefore it determines that
a five percentage point change in its relative percentage of pensionable earnings
would not result in significant variability in the proportion of the deficit or surplus
that would be allocated. Conversely, D does not have a significant share of the plan
and it determines that a five percentage point change in its relative percentage of
pensionable earnings would result in significant variability, and therefore this may
not be considered a reasonably stable basis for allocating the deficit or surplus.

Change in accounting treatment

4.4.190.10 If an entity has been accounting for a multi-employer defined benefit plan as a defined
benefit plan and the information that was previously available becomies unavailable, then the plan
is accounted for going forward as if it were a defined contribution plan. In our view, this should be
treated as a change in estimate following the specific requirements for changes in estimates related to
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defined contribution plans — i.e. as a change in estimate recognised as part of the defined contribution
cost in profit or loss in the period. [IAS 19.36]

4419020 If an entity has been accounting for a multi-employer defined benefit plan as a defined
contribution plan but sufficient information then becomes available that enables it to account for
{hat plan as a defined benefit plan (see 4.4,300), then in our view this should be treated as a change
. estimate following the specific requirements for changes in estimates related to defined benefit
plans — i.e. as remeasurements in the period (see 4.4.950). We believe that any deficit or surplus at
the date of reclassification of the plan should be included in the calculation of remeasurements of the
net defined benefit liability (asset) as if the gain or loss arose in the first year in which defined benefit
accounting is applied as a result of new information becoming available. It is not a plan amendment
(see 4.4.880) because the entity neither introduces a defined benefit plan nor changes the benefits
payable under an existing defined benefit plan. [JAS 19.104]

4.4.200

,420010  Defined henefit plans in which entities under common control share risks are group plans
rather than multi-errpioyer plans. Group plans are classified as either a defined contribution planor a
defined benefit plon 1a accordance with the terms of the plan (see 4.4.130). Under IAS 19, the account-
ing for defined venefit group plans in separate or individual financial statements (see 2.1.110-120)
depends cir whether there is a contractual agreement or stated policy for charging the net defined

benefis coaito individual group entities (see 4.4.210-220). [JAS 19.40-41]

4.0020  TAS 19 does not specifically address group plans that have both defined contribution
\nd defined benefit components — e.g. defined benefit for all employees of some group entities and
defined contribution for all employees of other group entities.

ExampPLE 2 — GROUP PLAN WITH DEFINED CONTRIBUTION AND DEFINED BENEFIT COMPONENTS

4220030  Companies C and B are under the common control of Parent P. C and
B participate in a single plan with P for the benefit of their employees, with a stated
policy for charging the IAS 19 cost for the plan as a whole (see 4.4.210.10). C's em-
ployees are entitled to a defined contribution award on retirement and B’s employees
are entitled to a defined benefit award on retirement. The contributions made by C
and B and their employees are held in a single asset pool in a trust. C and B might
wish to account for the defined contribution and defined benefit components of the
plan separately — i.e. C accounts for the plan as a defined contribution plan whereas
B accounts for it as a defined benefit plan. In our view, for this to be appropriate, as
a minimum there should be controls in place within the trust that prevent any use of
assets related to defined contribution members to settle obligations related to defined
benefit members and vice versa. If such restrictions on availability are not in place,
then we believe that the plan as a whole should be accounted for as a single plan and
defined benefit accounting should be applied at a group level (see 4.4.210.10).

44210 Contractual agreement or stated policy exists

4421010 If a contractual agreement or stated policy exists for charging individual group entities
the IAS 19 cost for the plan as a whole, then an entity recognises the net defined benefit cost allocated
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e g pf)hcy {?r agreement is removed by a legal sponsor, then other participants should d :
their portion of the deficit and recognise the gain resulting from that change in estim ft"TG_COgms(:
or loss (see 4.4.190.10), whereas the sponsor should account for a remeasurement | o
defined benefit liability (see 4.4.190.20); or L o ontioas
@ a policy or agreement is introduced, then this would result in a remeasurement eain
dfaﬁnad benefit liability for the legal sponsor and a remeasurement loss equal to thge Oil ez
nised share of net defined benefit liability for other participants. -

4.4.248 State plans

State plans are established by legislati i
gislation to cover all, or specifi 3 iti
are not operated by the employer. [IAS 19.44] repesi g oL S
4.4.240.20 State plans are accounted for in the same wa i i
.20 cou y as multi-employer plans. If the emp]
a}rll obligation only to pay contributions and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay futurE gzsrg s
then state plans are defined contribution plans. Otherwise, they are defined benefit plans. [45 /9 43e 4t53i

4.4.240.30 i i i i

b ;7 0 In our experience, there is generally insufficient information available about defined
enefit state pl_ans to apply defined benefit accounting. Therefore, defined contribution ac ing i

normally applied to such state plans. R

4.4.250 DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS

b 1.250.1 _An. entity accounts for its contributions to defined contribution plans on an accrual basis
n as:.set .or liability may result from advance payments or payments due, respectively, to a defi c[
contribution fund. [IAS 19.51] , : I

4.4.260 Vesting conditions and advance contributions

4.4.260.10 .It contributions are made to a defined contribution plan in advance of services bei
rendered, or if a defined contribution plan has vesting conditions, then some believe that 1. :‘* -
graph 51(a) of IAS 19 the contributions should be recognised as aprepayment and that “'é Lr’:“i e
should be expensed as the employee provides services that entitle them to the k ‘nu\" ts }? i
under IAS %9 the entity’s obligation for each period is determined by the amownt 3 )Lble c;ontor"’vl;ezez
for that period. The IFRS Interpretations Committee discussed the issue of Ve:sti;;L conditi X ed
noted tll'lat each contribution to a defined contribution plan is recognised as an expcnsge ovl;r ihons ajl-ld
of service that obliges the employer to pay this contribution to the defined contribution laepe?ho
than over the period of service that entitles the employee to receive the benefit. [745 19 5Jp I{? :9;&] I]sr

A

4.4.270 Refund of contributions or contribution holiday

;i Oil;d: . In 1(1]nus_ual lcases, an entlty mzliy be_ entitled to a refund of contributions, to a contribution
yortoare uction in future contributions in respect of past services under a defined contribution
plan —e.g. if the plan has vesting conditions and an employee forfeits benefits as a result of failin,
.to meet the required service conditions. The IFRS Interpretations Committeé discussed a scenarig
in which an f:ntity is entitled to a refund of contributions and noted that a refund is recognised as an
asselt and as income when the entity becomes entitled to it — e.g. by the employee failinvgto meet the
vesting condition. In our view, a contribution holiday or a reduction in contributions for ]:ast services,

the cost of which has already been recognised as personnel expenses, should be treated in the same

1052

Defined benefit plans

way as a refund. Accordingly, we believe that a contribution holiday or a reduction in future contri-
putions that will accrue in future periods for services to be provided after the reporting date should
qot be anticipated. Instead, the benefit should be recognised by way of a lower (or no) contribution

gxpense in those future periods. [1U 07-11]

ExAMPLE 5 — DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN WITH POTENTIAL REFUND OF CONTRIBUTIONS

4

1427020  Company Y makes contributions to a defined contribution plan on
behalf of its employees. Each employee’s vested interest is 100% if employment
ends after age 60; 75% if employment ends after age 55; and 50% if employment
ends before age 55. To the extent that the interest does not vest, Y is entitled to a
contribution refund. Y expenses 100% of the defined contributions that fall due in
respect of each period. If an employee does not complete the required service to
become entifled to 100% of the contributions, then Y recognises an asset and income
when it becomes entitled to the resultant refund —i.e. on a termination of employment.

Refi:nd or contribution holiday for multi-employer plan

442801 An employer that participates in a defined benefit multi-employer plan may become
entitled to-avefund of contributions (see 4.4.840) or to a contribution holiday if the plan is in surplus.
In ol ¥iew, an asset should not be recognised for an anticipated refund of contributions or a contribu-
+o1 to.iday for a defined benefit multi-employer plan that is accounted for as a defined contribution
piia because insufficient information is available to apply defined benefit accounting. This is because
ine factors that give rise to the exemption from defined benefit accounting — i.e. the inability to obtain
sufficient information to calculate the entity’s proportionate share — and therefore the exemption from
recognising an asset or liability, apply until the refund is received or receivable. However, the surplus and
the implications — i.e. the expected reduction in contributions — should be disclosed. [IAS 19.148(d)(iv)]

4.4.790 Presentation and disclosures

4499010 Assets and liabilities related to defined contribution plans are classified as current or

non-current in accordance with the general classification requirements (see 3.1.20).

4429020  The amount recognised as an expense for defined contribution plans is disclosed. In-
formation about contributions to defined contribution plans for key management personnel is also
disclosed, if applicable. [IAS 19.53-54, 24.17]

DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS
44,310 Basic principles
4,4.310.10 IAS 19 establishes requirements for the basis of the valuation as well as principles for

the actuarial assumptions to be used in valuing defined benefit plans.

4431020  Estimates, averages and computational shortcuts may be used only if they provide a
reliable approximation of the detailed computations that are required. Computational shortcuts may
be appropriate in practice when performing a roll-forward of a previous valuation — e.g. from valu-

ation date to a subsequent reporting date (sce 4.4.350). [IAS 19.58, 60]
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Interest in a fund

{ An entity offsets qualifying plan assets agaj i
. . sets against the related i
it does not consolidate the fund that holds the plan assets. For ot A

LIAS 19.57(a)iit), 113] further discussion, see 4.4.1490.

Inter-related post-employment benefit plans

4433030  An entity may have more than one
1 post-employment benefit plan. In iew, i
&ost—:mployment beneﬁFs are financed through a single scheme, funded iy one zsire:le:] ’]lf b
herefore share the same investment risk, then they should generally be considered and re prto 8
single plan, and the terms of each component of the plan should be disclosed separately i
4455026 Conversely, if different benefits are funded through different funds or are administereq
Te

b : i j i
y one fund but have different arrangements, subject to different investment risk, then we believe that
) a

they should be considered as separate plans. They may be combined in preparing disclosures for th
e

ﬁnanaa.] statemel_lts if thc.ay are all in a net surplus or a net liability position. Otherwise, offsettine ;
appropriate only if there is a legal right to set off between underfunding of one plan anc{ mg 8
of another plan (see 4.4, 1080). [745 19.131] Overfﬂﬂdlﬂg

n,Ot E;utomaticgll )(/);1;111:\?;1 ;h; 1fact that there are the same beneficiaries in two different plans doeg
| gle plan even if one plan may have certain ri ghis to the surplus j
ther plan. For example, access of an unfunded post-employment medical benefit plan ;P i 'me
c1rcumstar?ces to part of the surplus of another post-employment plan does not i:)nerallli1 i Spec’lﬁc
plgn atiset in the r‘nedical benefit plan if the amount of the surplus is not ‘[rzmsff:rre(ig but onl)); r‘::i;\i:d?
th; Zeﬁ lflz es ;E;l;[esﬁ trzfigzgoil’]oirniz E:glﬁlailfg;mi flfm W;]Llld ciec]ine if the investments decreased or
S al post-e i

(:n'rangemen,t as one plan could result in disguisiig rhg frue ;Ziiiiy;:zl}ttl;;n;fr;ﬁ];;l:zag:f;ic‘h"q'L
I-l;é];l‘:;:;:ﬁ:i;l‘ tiﬁg?; ;1;;1;[ Iigst—tt:m;)floimenitl plan could be offsetting the deficit of the t,nedic:;; 1;1;;16

. set off, then the ‘reserved’ a 3 ioa]
plan. In ﬂl'liS case, an entity needs to consider its legally 2?1 fz?(l:-gzliie?;};f &15;1“8355? O'f e
settle obligations under another plan and its intention to settle the plans on a net 1:525 ‘f S;TZ !Ilgg()t)o

EXAMPLE 6 — DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS — INTER-RELATED POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLANS

A A

$4.330.40  Company H is required by law to make severance payments to em-
ployees_wthen they retire or leave. Severance payments reduce pension entilt]ernenl
It ‘H anticipates that the severance payments will be such that no pension pa meuts;
will be required, then we believe that the net defined benefit liability (asset)ihould
r-cﬂect only the severance payments. If pension payments will be required in addi-
tion to‘the severance payments, then the pension liability should reflect the amounts
that will be payable as a top-up to the severance payment. In any case, we believe
that L.he calculation of the severance liability and the pension liability s[;ould reflect
cons1sFent actuarial assumptions, such as estimated future salary increases, but may
have different inputs — e.g. benefits may be based on the final salary for thf; pension
scheme, but on the average salary for the severance liability.
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Recognition and measurement

4.340.1¢ Accounting for defined benefit plans involves the following steps.
Determining the deficit or surplus in the plan, by:
_ determining the present value of the defined benefit obligation (see 4.4.380); and
- deducting the fair value of any plan assets (see 4.4.550).
Adjusting the amount of the deficit or surplus for any effect of limiting a net defined benefit asset
to the asset ceiling (see 4.4.690).
Determining the amounts to be recognised in profit or loss (see 4.4.830).
Determining the remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability (asset) to be recognised in

OCI (see 4.4.950). [IAS 19.57]

4.4.350 Timing and frequency of actuarial valuations

4.4 To determine the present value of the defined benefit obligation, an entity needs to ob-
ain an actuarial valuation. The timing or frequency of actuarial valuations is not mandated by IFRS.
Actuarial valuations are required to be regular enough for the amounts recognised in the financial
statements not to diftez materially from the amounts that would be determined at the reporting date.
Therefore, a valration a few months before the reporting date is acceptable if it is adjusted for mate-
rial subsequent cveénts — e.g. discount rate changes — up to the reporting date. [IAS 79.58]

4435000~ IFRS is silent on the treatment of a change in the timing of actuarial valuations. In our
view, beause the change in the timing does not change the measurement objective, it is not a change
iy accounting policy (see chapter 2.8). In our view, such a change can be made if the measurement
Ji the obligation would still not be materially different from a measurement based on an actuarial

yaluation obtained at the reporting date.

ExaMPLE 7 — DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS — TIMING OF ACTUARIAL VALUATION

4435030  Company D previously measured its defined benefit obligation based on
an actuarial valuation obtained at the reporting date; the most recent actuarial valuation
was obtained at 31 December 2016. We believe that D may measure the obligation at
31 December 2017 based on an actnarial valuation obtained at 30 September 2017
if it adjusts the obligation for material subsequent events up to 31 December 2017.

4435040  In our view, asset values should generally be determined at the annual reporting date,
even if the valuation of the obligation is done in advance and is adjusted forward, because these values
are generally observable in the market. [IAS 19.58]

4435010 The preparation of interim financial information does not necessarily involve obtaining
an updated actuarial valuation. Although the basic requirement of TAS 19 is that remeasurements are
recognised in the period in which they arise, for interim financial statements a greater degree of estima-
tion may be appropriate. Determining whether an updated valuation of the net defined benefit liability
(asset) is necessary at the interim reporting date requires judgement (see 5.9.150). [JAS 34.B9, 19.BC59]

Entities may nevertheless choose to update their actuarial valuation at the each interim

4.4 3641
2. 50

reporting date.
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4.4 Employee benefits

P

360.30 An updated valuation of the net defined benefit liability (asset) at the interim repgre:
date does not affect the measurement of service cost and net interest for the remainder of th e
annual reporting period. Their measurement continues to be based on the assum. i
annual reporting date. [JAS 19.BC63-BC64]

4.4

ptions at the prioy

Net defined benefit liability (asset)

L4 7 ‘,“,{;_ The net defined benefit liability (asset) is recognised in the statement of financi

tion and is determined as follows.

® Step I: Present value of the defined benefit obligation (see 4.4.380) minus the fair vala
plan assets (see 4.4.550) equals the deficit or surplus in the defined benefit plan.

® Step 2: Adjustment for any effect of limiting a net defined benefit asset to the asset
(see 4.4.690). [IAS 19.8, 63-64]

al posi-
¢ of any

ceiling

DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION
44,390 Actuarial valuation method

. ’I_’he projected unit credit method is used to determine the present value of the defined
ben_eﬁt obligation. This involves projecting future salaries and benefits to which an employee will b
entitled at the expected date of leaving. [74S 19.67-68] ¥

ExamPLE 8 — MEASURING DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION AND CURRENT SERVICE COST

390.20 Company F operates a defined benefit plan that provides an annual
pension of Y of final salary for each year of service. The total expected annual
salary on retirement of employees covered by the plan is 600,000, All the emp’ay-
qes:are expected to retire in 10 years and have worked for five years to date. Aler
retirement, the employees are expected to live for 15 years.

4.4.390 The defined benefit obligation is the present valus'af “he expected
payment of 750,000 (% x 600,000 x 15). The employee cost o1 ifie period (cur-
rent service cost) is equal to (“e x 600,000 x 15) discounted to its present value
adjusted for the actuarially determined probability of the outcome. ’

4.4.395 Contribution-based promises

: Contribution-based promises are defined benefit plans with a promised return on actual
ot notional contributions that is based on either or both of the following features:

@ a guaranteed return of a fixed amount or rate; and/or -

® a benefit that depends on future asset returns.

4439520 1AS 19is silent on the accounting for contribution-based promises, Because these plans
are defined benefit plans, the projected unit credit method generally applies to the measurement of
the related defined benefit obligation. However, in our experience, in some jurisdictions entities pre-

dominantly apply the methodology of IFRIC Draft Interpretation D9 Employee Benefit Plans with
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. promised Return on Contributions or Notional Contributions and therefore measure benefits that
depend on future asset returns at the fair value of the related assets.

1439530  The IFRS Interpretations Committee discussed this issue and acknowledged that diver-
gence in practice exists; however, it decided not to proceed with a project on the issue. In our view,
an entity applying IFRIC D9 should update its approach as necessary to comply with the currently
effective TAS 19 — e.g. to reflect the amended calculation of net interest — because IFRIC D9 was

pased on an earlier version of the standard. [/U 05-14]

Attributing benefits to periods of service

4.4.400

4.4,400.1 Benefits are attributed to periods of service in accordance with the plan’s benefit formula,
unless that formula is back-end-loaded —i.e. service in later periods will lead to a materially higher level
of benefit than service in earlier periods — in which case a straight-line attribution is used. [7AS 19.70]

1440020 Indetermining whether straight-line attribution is required, an entity considers whether an
employee’s service tlitoughout the period will ultimately lead to benefits at that higher level. [IA5 19.73]

ExXAMPLE 9 A — TEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION — ATTRIBUTING BENEFITS TQ PERIODS OF SERVICE

4440030  Company G sponsors a pension plan in which employees earn de-
fined benefits for service provided between the ages of 25 and 65. As part of the
pension plan, G offers an early retirement scheme under which employees earn
early retirement benefits for service provided between the ages of 47 and 62. The
early retirement benefits are earned regardless of the period of service before the
age of 47 —i.e. an employee joining G at age 46 is entitled to the same early retire-
ment benefit as an employee who has been employed since the age of 26. Because
services provided from the age of 47 to 62 lead to the early retirement benefit, the
obligation for the early retirement scheme is attributed to services provided from
the age of 47 through to 62.

4.4.400.4 If a straight-line attribution is used, then benefits are attributed from the date on which
service first leads to benefits under the plan until the date on which further service by the employee
will lead to no material amount of further benefits under the plan, other than from salary increases.
This method of attribution is required because the employee’s service throughout the period will
ultimately lead to benefits at a higher level. [JAS 19.70, 73]

4440050 Anentity evaluates the terms of a plan to determine the date on which service first leads
to benefits under the plan, because it may not necessarily be the date of hire.

ExamMpPLE 9B — DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION — DETERMINING START OF ATTRIBUTION PERIOD

1440060  Company H offers post-employment medical benefits to its retirees
under the following conditions:

e they provided 20 years of service; and

® they were employed at the age of 60.
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4.4 Employee benefits

The start of the attribution period may differ depending on wheth, -
t.he benefit is earned after 20 years of cumulative service or 20 years of con o
tive service. In the cumulative service (first) scenario, the employee may k:asecll-
the age of 35 after seven years of service and return at the age of 38 and stﬂl‘;:?:

the Ibeneﬁt. It 20 years of cumulative service is required, then the benefit would b
attributed from the date of original hire ;

4.4.400.7

—1i.e. when the employee was 28 — b

: . Ccause
the services pr0v1ded from that date contribute to the benefits earned. Ho ever S
h V ; W L Af

20 years of consecutive service is required, then the attribution would start from th

age of 40 because the first seven years of employment did not give rise to b e
ent%t]ement. However, all facts and circumstances need to be considered — :Hﬂﬁt
entity does not rehire former employees in practice — to ensure that the approl-)i;:

attribution period is used.

ERS is silent on whether the benefits previously attributed to earlier years of seryi

.1sed if the structure of benefits offered by a plan is amended but benefits éamed ;V]CE
the Past service are unchanged. In our view, if an amendment offers improved benefits for fi i
services and benefits accrued in respect of past service remain unaffected, then the benefits shoullqlitﬁz

be attributed over the entire service period but rather split into two distinct
accounted for prospectively.

4. 50

should be rev

periods, with the change

/!
noan

400.20 A defined benefit plan offers different benefit accrual rates for differesst |
groups of participants — e.g. one category accrues a benefit of Yo of the final gal ‘1‘
per year whereas the other accrues a benefit of sy, From 1 J anuary 2017, ke mm i;
amended to offer all members benefits at the more advantageous accru al I':aff; of s
and this change applies prospectively — i.e. only to benefits earned afte- 1 J anuaj
2017. We believe that because the benefits earned in respect of wrvicé providgi
until 31 December 2016 are not affected by the amendment, tue benefits should
not be attributed over the entire working lives of members but instead should be

attributed separately over two distinct periods of service —i.e. one before and one
after the amendment.

Actuarial assumptions

4441010

Actuarial assumptions comprise the following.
® Demographic assumnptions, such as:
— mortality (see 4.4.420.10);

rates of employee turnover, disability and carly retirement (see 4.4.420.20); and

. the take-up of any benefit payment options available under the plan (see 4.4.440)
® Financial assumptions, such as: N |

— Tfuture salary (see 4.4.430.30);
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_ benefit levels (excluding any cost of the benefits to be met by employees or third parties)
(see 4.4.430-490);

— certain taxes payable by the plan (see 4.4.500); and

_ the discount rate (see 4.4.510). [IAS 19.76]

4441020 Actuarial assumptions represent the entity’s best estimates of the variables that will
determine the ultimate cost of settling the defined benefit obligation. They are unbiased (neither
jmprudent nor excessively conservative) and mutually compatible — e.g. the economic relationship
petween increases in salaries and future inflation-linked pension increases reflects the same
expectalions. [IAS 19.76-78]

1441030 The financial assumptions are based on current market expectations of future events —e.g.
medical cost inflation — and are determined in nominal (stated) terms unless real (inflation-adjusted)
terms would be more appropriate. [IAS 19.79-80]

44,420 Demogyaphic assumplions

4442010  Moftaiity assumptions are determined with reference to the entity’s current best estimate
of the mortality ! plan members both during and after employment. Existing mortality tables might
therefore ne=d to be adjusted for expected changes in mortality. [IAS 19.81-82, BC142]

+44:020  Although an entity makes estimates of voluntary early retirements, it does not take into
account future redundancies or other plan curtailments in determining the defined benefit obligation
1ntil the termination or curtailment is recognised (see 4.4.890).

Benefits

4.4.430.10 The calculation takes into account not only the stated plan benefits, but also any
constructive obligations. Constructive obligations include those established by informal practices,
which the entity has no realistic alternative but to continue, such as ‘discretionary’ inflationary increases
in pensions that would be very difficult for an employer to stop granting, [/AS 19.87. 88(a)]

44 ) The actuarial assumptions take into account future benefit changes that are set out
in the formal terms of a plan. This includes estimated future changes in state benefits that affect
benefits payable under the plan and for which there is reliable evidence that the change will happen.
[14S 19.87-85]

4443030  The measurement of the defined benefit obligation reflects expected future salaries.
Therefore, for average salary plans, the projecied average salary rather than the current average salary
isused in measuring the liability. Similarly, even if the plan benefits are expressed in terms of current
salaries, expected future salaries are taken into account. [IAS 19.70, 87(b)]

4443040  Other future changes that the employer currently has a constructive obligation to make
- e.g. inflation increases — are also reflected in the measurement of the obligation. However, future
changes to the terms of a plan, as long as the employer does not have a constructive obligation to make
these changes, are not anticipated in the measurement of the obligation. Therefore, if, for example,
the terms of a plan are changed from covering a select group of employees to covering all employees,
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4.4 Employee benefits

44,500 Taxes payable by plan

500,1¢ IAS 19 distinguishes between taxes
service before the reporting date or on benefits re
able by the plan. An actuarial assumption is made
account in measuring current service cost and the
as part of the cost of providing the benefits. All ot
return on plan assets and therefore form part of re

payable by the plan on contributions r
sulting from that service, and all other t
about the first type of taxes, which are
defined benefit obligation, because they are geq

her taxes payable by the plan are included in thz
measurements (see 4.4.970). [IAS 79.8, 76(b)iv), 130]

ExamPLE 11 — DERINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION —

4.4.500

0.20  Company Z has a defined benefit pension
to pay a 10% tax on all contributions it receives — a ‘contributions tax’. With
considering the impact of investment earnings that might also fund ﬂ.'le 11 i
benefits, the plan needs to receive contributions of 100 to retain sufficient O;t':fﬂ
plan assets t_o pay a benefit of 90, effectively increasing Z’s cost of the bene%t ThelX
type of tax is included in determining the defined benefit obligation at the elnd ;
each reporting date. Changes in the expected timing or amount of contribution to
payable will lead to actuarial gains and losses, which are recognised in OC[ G

ool

of con tﬁbutiops tax payable to be included in the calculation of
e making various assumptions, including the following:
utions tax payments, which might occur periodically over the

plan. The plan is required

44.500.30  Estimating the amount

the defined benefit obligation involv

® the expected timing of contrib
employment period; and

® the level of plan assets already held b

e e y the plan, because they limit th iti o
tributions and the related taxes. ’ e

a-

Discount rate

.3 The obligation for estimated future payments is measured on a disvou

obﬁgation is discounted using a high-quality corporate bond rate (see 4.4.520;
rate if there is an insufficiently deep hi, .y

and maturity of the bonds need to be ¢
obligation. [Z4S 79, 83, IU 06-17]

nced basis. The

; ora government bond
gh-quality corporate bond market (see 4.4.530). The currency

onsistent with the currency and maturity of the defined benefit

High-quality corporate bonds

;;:w In our view, ‘high-quality’ should be interpreted as a bond wit
ratings, i.e. AAA and AA (Standard & Poor’s ratin

from other ratings agencies.

h one of the two highest
g) or Aaa and Aa (Moody’s rating), or equivalent

4452020 We believe that consideration should be
quent to the reporting date.
or bond-matching model (s
to the reporting date so tha
other cases,

given to adjustments for downgrades subse-
In some cases, bonds that are included in data underlying a yield curve
ee 4.4.540.10) may be downgraded by a credit ratin g agency subsequent

t the bonds no longer meet the criteria to be considered high-quality. In

the market index may include corporate bonds that are no longer high-quality. In either
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of these cases, the facts and circumstances should be evaluated to determine if there is an adjusting
gyent or & non-adjusting event after the reporting date (see 2.9.20-30).

4452030 Inour view, the incremental borrowing rate of an entity is not an appropriate rate to use,
pecause it reflects the credit quality of the entity. [JAS 19.84, BC134]

44530 Deep market

4453010 The depth of the market for high-quality corporate bonds is assessed at the currency

1&@1. [1AS 19.83]

4,530.2 An entity that operates in a country with a currency without a sufficiently deep high-
quality corporate bond market uses government bonds issued in the same currency to_determme
the discount rate. In our view, such an entity cannot construct a synthetic equivalent using a bond
market in another country’s currency and notional or actual currency swaps. We believe that the
hierarchy specified i the standard, which requires a default to the government bond rate, means
that the governmenu bond rate should be used. IAS 19, however, is not specific about what level of
government shouid be used to determine the appropriate government bond rate. [JAS 19.83]

44530200 ) I bonds with a maturity that matches the maturity of the defined benefit obligation are
10t evailaple, then an appropriate discount rate is estimated by extrapolating interest rates on shorter-
t=na-bonds using the yield curve and considering any available evidence about likely longer-term

e

‘nterest rates. [IAS 19.86]

4,4.540 Discount rate methodologies

4451010  Approaches to determining an TAS 19 discount rate may vary from entity to entity. In

our experience, the prevalent methods are a yield curve approach, a bond-matching model or a market
index approach under which an entity selects a representative discount rate from a published index

representing high-quality corporate bonds (see 4.4.520).

44 »  In practice, an entity often uses a single weighted-average discount rate to measure
the defined benefit obligation, reflecting the estimated timing and amount of benefit payments and
the currency in which the benefits are to be paid. In such cases, the entity also uses the same rate to
calculate current service cost and interest cost. However, in our view, in measuring the defined benefit
obligation, current service cost and interest cost, an entity might instead use different weighted-average
discount rates derived from the same yield curve for different categories of plan members in order to
match more closely the expected timing of the benefit payments for each category. [1AS 19.85]

1454036 For example, different weighted-average rates might be used for pensioners and for
members still in employment. In this case, rather than using a single weighted-average discount
rate, an entity might calculate the defined benefit obligation, current service cost and interest cost
separately for pensioners and active members, using the more specific weighted-average discount
rate from the same yield curve attributable to each category. This calculation would result in different
overall weighted-average discount rates for the defined benefit obligation and current service cost of
the entire plan — i.e. when aggregating all categories — because current service is provided only by
active members (see 4.4.860). [IAS 19.85]
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Although there is no explicit requirement in IFRS about the

that can be held, there may be such requir i
. ; equirements in local pensio i
be considered. ’ 1 reeuinton

nature of plan assets
s, which may haye to

4.4.570 Restriction on availability

In our view, the restriction on the availability

£.570.1 : ey of the assets to creditors of i
plies both to claims arising from liquidation or similar cou e

rt proceedings and from normal Operationg

4, 2 In our view, the protection from claims of other parties
pable of being overridden by other contracts (e. g. mortgages) or legis
prevented legally from being made available to the enti
other than for permitted purposes (see 4.4.560).

to the assets should not he ca-
lation and the assets should be
ty or its creditors under any circumstanges

44580 Reimbursement for benefits paid

6.10  The definition of plan assets refers to the return of plan assets to the reporti i

for b-eneflts tihat have already been paid. Therefore, in our view the definition of pla ; | - 'emlty
met if an entity has the ability to receive reimbursement in advance, before the reiIIrJlb bl G
payments are made. It is possible that a reimbursement ri ; ol

ht asset mi isei i
(sce 4.4.640). [145 19.8, 116-119] * gt arsein those crumagiE

Ability to use plan assets

4.4.590.10

5 ‘ When determining whether assets qualify as plan assets, in addition to meeti
§He§a1 cn[ina for treatment as plan assets (see 4.4.560 and 600, 10), in our view it is necezs:rfi/ tf]cl):
¢ plan to have the ability to use those assets to fund e e N
in sub.stance; the plan should not be prevented by the er?ﬂ;()i::n? Zii::gi??}f: Sczizh lf:g?)ﬂy ,a "n S
attaching to the assets. For example, it is possible for operating assets used by the entitlmtC ‘e“ﬂ o
asseI:,s. IAS 19 does not impose any additional conditions for such assets to be classified Y “OV Vasuet
but, if the assets in question are critical to the continued existence of the entit (;r hi hlaT » n' as_s"ts
and/or transferability restrictions are imposed on the plan in connection withy’thc%gav) tS peilallsed
plan may not have the ability to use those assets to fund employee benefits “\c‘m iggai; :::dﬂ;z

substance. An analysis of the facts and ci
circumstances may be required i 'ormi i
ek, 1. 2953 Tt aEe y quired in perorming this assess-

4.4.660 Financial instruments issued by entity

the crit

. Plan assets include transferable financial instruments issued by the reporting entity if
e et eria for tre_atment as plan Iassets are met (see 4.4.560). Examples of such transferable financial
nstruments may include shares issued by the reporting entity (including by its subsidiaries) or loans
Igranted _by post-employment benefit plans to the reporting entity (or its subsidiaries) (see 4.4.1500).
n our view, transfer would need to be possible both legally and in substance. IAS 19 precludes non-

1ns S 1881 & I t 31] I] [+ an assel a]] Cases.
transterable |Il[ﬂ] cla truments 1 ed h [[le Bpo 1ng enti (8} b
. p g y lﬂg pl n assets in

4.4.600.28

For a discussion of insurance policies issued t
§ to the plan b i ;
related party of the reporting entity, see 4.4.660. plan by the reporting culfSeg
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4460030 Planassets exclude contributions receivable from the reporting entity and other financial
pstruments issued by the reporting entity and held by the fund that cannot bemmsfessed o thixd
parties _ e.. non-transferable loans by the fund to the reporting entity (see 4.4.1500). [IAS 19.8, 114]

44,600 In our view, the requirement for financial instruments to be transferable to qualify as plan @
assets applies to instruments issued by all entities that are part of the group — i.e. parent, intermediate
snd ultimate parent, and subsidiaries — in both separate and consolidated financial statements.

4460050 Inour view, financial instruments of associates and joint ventures in which group enti- ®
ties have invested qualify for treatment as plan assets if they are transferable and the other criteria for
ireatment as plan assets are met. If financial instruments issued by associates and joint ventures are
not transferable, then we believe that an entity can still treat them as plan assets — in both separate
and consolidated financial statements — because they are not part of the group. This is an accounting
policy choice that should be applied consistently.

44,610 Replacenent assets

44.61 I suane cases, assets of the fund can be returned to the entity in situations other than
when it is for reimbursement of employee benefits paid or when the fund is in surplus. In these cases,
fhe entity is typically required to provide replacement assets to the fund. Tn our view, an entity’s ability
to ren!s ~€ existing plan assets does not preclude classification of the assets as plan assets, if the cur-
-spfair value of the replacement assets is required to be equal to or higher than the fair value of the
.ssets replaced and the substitution can be made only if the trustees of the fund agree. We believe that
this is similar to the sale of the assets by the fund. However, it is critical in such cases that the entity
delivers equivalent or greater current fair value to be considered similar to a sale. This is because any
below-market exchange represents a transfer of value to the entity, which would preclude the assets
from qualifying as plan assets (see 4.4.560).

Measurement

4.4.620.10 Plan assets are measured at fair value in accordance with IFRS 13, which is the subject
of chapter 2.4. For assets measured at fair value that have a bid and ask price, IFRS 13 requires the
use of the price within the bid-ask spread that is the most representative of fair value in the circum-
stances. Under IFRS 13, the use of bid prices for long positions and ask prices for short positions is
permitted but not required. For further discussion of the use of inputs based on bid and ask prices in
measuring fair value, see 2.4.250. [IAS 19.57(a)(iii), 113, IFRS 13.70]

! o The requirement to measure plan assets at fair value overrides the requirements of
other standards. Therefore, in our view if the plan has a controlling interest in another entity, then
the investment should be measured at fair value and the underlying entity should not be consolidated
(see 4.4.1490). Similarly, shares of the plan sponsor (employer) that qualify as plan assets should be
measured at fair value and not presented as a deduction from equity, which is normally the treatment
of treasury shares (see 7.3.420).

62020 Plan assets may include non-financial assets such as property; in our view, they should
also be measured at fair value, even if they were transferred to the fund by the entity in settlement of
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(:(fngtr.lbunons due to the fund and were previously measured at cost by the entity. The measure
of fair value under .IFRS 13 reflects any special characteristic of the assets — e.g. their logat' o
age (see 2.4.70). Differences between the carrying amount of the asset derecognised b e

and the fair value of the contribution made may result in a gain or loss on contributi
or loss.

¥ the entity
on in profit

ExaMPLE 13 — PLAN ASSETS — TRANSFER OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS TO PLAN

4462040  Company B contributes property to its plan wit i

of 100 and a fair value of 160 in settlemen? of Zonh‘ibtl:‘l[ion sw du}; 30C$;3;E1ngdi}??gnt
Because B has transferred the risks and rewards of ownership to the fund and tj? .
plan assets are not consolidated by B, we believe that B should recognise a gain ?‘
60 on the contribution in profit or loss in the period in which the asset is contributeg

.

; In some cases, the entity may continue to use th
. : se the asset after the asset has been contriby

~ . t
into the Plan —e.g. a leaseback of a contributed office building. In such cases, the entity con5i3:d
the requirements }cor the transfer of risks and rewards of ownership under IAS 17, which ma aff i
the assessment of whether a gain should be recognised (see 5.1.470). , VR

Assets that do not qualify as plan assets

4.4.630.10  In our view, investments held by employee benefit plans that do not qualify as plan asset

should be accounted for by the entity in the same way as its other financial assets (see chapt 3
and 7.6) but also might be classified as a reimbursement right (see 4.4.640). If the investmentp'ersl 7;
shares of the entity itself, then the requirements for treasury shares apply (see 7.3.420) E

Reimbursement rights

A A LA Ty
4.4.640.10

640 If an entity will be reimbursed for expenditure that is required to settle a defined benefit
pbllgatlon, but the reimbursement right does not give rise to a plan asset (see 4.4 560) “htr; the

1ml:'mrssment right is recognised as a separate asset when recovery is virtually C(-er.'"us gt;l'zxam rlzw
an insurance policy that is not a plan asset generally gives rise to a reimburserzit ﬁgh;. [ZAS 19 F.’éi

020 In our view, the reimbursement right needs to be due from a party outside the grou
(which may include an associate or joint venture (see 4.5, 120.60)). Therefore, aright to receive assetI:
from apother group entity —e.g. parent, subsidiary — to fund employee benefit bb]igatious is not treated
asa relmbursement right in the consolidated financial statements. However, it may be ap\pro riate to
Tecognise a reimbursement right in the separate financial statements of the entity providingpthat the
criteria in paragraph 116 of TAS 19 are met. [/FRS 4./G2.Ex1.21]

3¢ R_eimbursement rights are accounted for in the same way as plan assets — i.e. they are
measured at fair value and the changes in fair value of the reimbursement rights are accm;n.ted forin
the sarpe way as the changes in the fair value of plan assets. Remeasurements arising on reimburse-
ment rights are recognised in OCT (see 4.4.830.10). However, reimbursement rights are presented
differently from plan assets, being shown as a separate asset in the statement of ﬁnanciaf osition
rather than being netted against the related defined benefit obligation. [/AS 19.116] :
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Plan assets

pxaMPLE 14A — RETMBURSEMENT RIGHT

Company O has a defined benefit pension plan for all of its employees.
O outsources some of its employees to Company P, a third party. The outsourced
employees continue to participate in O’s pension plan but O is entitled to recover the
costs of the outsourced employees, including costs associated with the defined benefit
plan, from P. O accounts for the full net defined benefit liability under the defined
benefit plan. If it is virtually certain that P will reimburse O for the pension costs,
then O recognises an asset for the reimbursement, which is accounted for in the same
way as a plan asset. However, O shows the reimbursement right as a separate asset
and does not deduct it from the carrying amount of the defined benefit obligation.

1464050 In some countries, governments introduce a state subsidy to plan sponsors for costs
sncurred under plans that meet certain criteria making them equivalent to a specified state plan. Some
people believe that such a state subsidy paid to the plan sponsors is a reimbursement right, whereas
others believe that it is sumilar to a state benefit (see 4.4.430.20) that affects the net benefit payable
by the entity, the ehtiiiated amount of which has now changed. In our view, an entity should choose
an accounting poliZy, to be applied consistently, to treat the state subsidy paid to the sponsor either
as a reimbrrsement right or as a state benefit. In our view, the initial recognition of the state subsidy,
regardiess & whether it is considered to be a reimbursement right or a state benefit, should be ac-
courted cor as a remeasurement gain and not as a plan amendment (see 4.4.950 and 880.30-40).
['or 4 discussion of state subsidies that are paid to the plan and treated as third party contributions,

e 4.4.490). [IAS 19.87(e), 92-93, 116]

ExampLE 14B — REIMBURSEMENT RIGHT OR STATE BENEFIT — STATE SUBSIDY TO PLAN SPONSOR

2464060  Company M provides post-retirement medical benefits to its employ-
ees. The defined benefit obligation at 31 December 2017 is 150, excluding any
effects of a state subsidy, and the plan assets are 50. As a result, without the effect
of the state subsidy, M would recognise a net defined benefit liability of 100 (net
of plan assets of 50) in the 2017 financial statements.

1464070 M determines that its plan is equivalent to the specified state plan
and that, based on its actuarial assumptions about expected costs, M will receive
a subsidy of 20. M chooses to treat the state subsidy as a reimbursement right and
therefore recognises it as a separate asset. Because the creation of the reimburse-
ment right is a remeasurement gain, M records the following entry. [IAS 19.92, 116]

( Desir CreDIT
[
Reimbursement right (separate asset) 20
Remeasurement (OCI) 20
To recognise reimbursement right asset
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